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SOLUTIONS
The many innovative and seemingly disparate solutions and advancements of the
past year demonstrate how seamlessly the Vision of the ACB Group, as the premier
performer, has been achieved.
From the back office operational effectiveness of Alchemy, the brick and mortar
expansion at Friar’s Hill, the local and international debit card launch, the online security
and convenience of internet banking supported by Synergy... the investments of the
past year have proven themselves as true value adding initiatives, bringing the ACB
Group and all who partner with us into a new, solutions-rich environment.

OUR MISSION

To be the best financial services provider, creating wealth
for our customers, investors, staff and communities both
regionally and beyond.

OUR VISION

To be the premier financial and related services
provider to each client we serve worldwide, creating
wealth and opportunities for all stakeholders in an ever
changing environment.

OUR PHILOSOPHY
We believe that we were created to be an essential contributor to the life of our
stakeholders. In this pursuit of our Vision we will be continually guided by the
following principles:
• Focus on creating wealth;
• Transparency in all we do;
• Good customer relations;
• Decision making that is research driven, timely and prompt;
• A continuous pursuit of the spirit of enterprise;
• Caring and respect for the individual;
• Good corporate citizenship;
• Enduring sustainability.

CORPORATE
INFORMATION
Registered Office and Postal Address
Thames & St. Mary’s Streets
P.O. Box 95, St. John’s, Antigua, West Indies
Service Locations
ACB Head Office: Thames & St. Mary’s Streets, St. John’s, Antigua
ACB Financial Centre: High & Temple Streets, St. John’s, Antigua
Village Walk Branch: Village Walk Commercial Center Ltd., Friars Hill Road, St. John’s, Antigua.
Airport Agency: V.C. Bird International Airport, Coolidge, St. George, Antigua
Barbuda Agency: Codrington, Barbuda
ATM Locations
ACB Head Office: Thames & St. Mary’s Streets, St. John’s, Antigua
ACB Financial Centre: High & Temple Streets, St. John’s, Antigua
Epicurean Fine Foods & Pharmacy: Epicurean Drive, St. John’s Antigua
Village Walk Commercial Center Ltd.: Friars Hill Road, St. John’s, Antigua
Airport Agency, V.C. Bird International Airport: Coolidge, St. George, Antigua
Barbuda Agency: Coolidge, Barbuda
Email Address
acb@acbonline.com
Website
www.acbonline.com
Contact Number
(268) 481-4200
Fax Number
(268) 481-4229
Independent Auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers, Chartered Accountants
11 Old Parham Road, P.O. Box 1531, St. John’s, Antigua
Corresponding Banking Relationships
St. Kitts- Nevis- Anguilla National Bank Ltd.
Republic Bank (Grenada) Ltd.
1st National Bank of St. Lucia Ltd.
National Commercial Bank (SVG) Ltd.
National Bank of Anguilla Ltd.
Bank of St. Lucia Ltd.
Eastern Caribbean Central Bank
Barbados National Bank Inc.
Bank of America
Bank of Montreal
RBTT Bank Jamaica Ltd.
Guyana National Co-op Bank
National Bank of Dominica
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL
GENERAL MEETING
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Fifty – Fifth Annual General Meeting of Antigua Commercial Bank will be
held in the President’s Suite at the Sir Vivian Richards Cricket Grounds located in North Sound, Antigua on
19th day of April, 2012
AGENDA
1.	Call to Order
2.	Prayers
3.

Adoption of the Agenda

4.	Chairman’s Remarks
5.	Confirm the Minutes of the 54th Annual General Meeting
6.	Consider Matters arising from the Minutes of the 54th Annual General Meeting
7.	Confirm the Minutes of the Special Shareholders’ Meeting- 27th September, 2011
8.	Consider Matters arising from the Minutes of the Special Shareholders’ Meeting- 27th September, 2011
9.

Present the Chairman’s and Directors’ Reports

10.	Consider the Financial Statements for the year ended September, 30, 2010 and the report of
the Auditors
11.

Declare a Final Dividend for the financial year ended September, 30, 2010

12.	Consider the following Special Resolution:“ That the Shareholders do hereby resolve to increase the maximum number of shares, the Company is authorized to issue,
from 5 million ordinary shares to 150 million ordinary shares.”
13.

Elect Directors and fix their remuneration

14.

Appoint the Auditors for the year ending September, 30, 2011 and to authorize the Board to fix their remuneration

15.	Transact any other business which may properly come before an Annual General Meeting
of Shareholders.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

………………………………………………..
RHODETTE PAIGE
LEGAL COUNSEL/ CORPORATE SECRETARY
29th February, 2012
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Mr. C. Davidson Charles
CHAIRMAN

“The Board recognizes
and remains
committed to fulfilling
its obligation to
establish policies,
make strategic
decisions and provide
the necessary
guidance to enable the
Company to offer THE
ULTIMATE SOLUTION
to its respective
Stakeholders.”
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chairman’s
Report
ECONOMIC OVERVIEW

PERFORMANCE - ACB GROUP

Following the financial melt down in late 2008 and its severe

I am pleased to report that despite the financial and economic

negative effects on economies worldwide in 2009, the predictions

challenges alluded to above, the Antigua Commercial Bank Group

were that there would have been a reversal of the negative

recorded net income of $14.4 million, which was less than the record

GDP growth experienced by many countries including Antigua

$16.0 million generated the previous year. This, in my view, represented

& Barbuda in 2010. Specifically, the United States, Germany,

a creditable performance when juxtaposed against the difficult

Japan and the United Kingdom, which had recorded negative

economic and financial environment in which the group operated in

GDP growths of 2.6%, 4.7%, 5.2% and 4.9% respectively in

2010. In terms of the Balance Sheet, the group’s asset grew by $40

2009 were expected to grow by 2.6%, 3.3%, 2.8% and 1.7%

million with loans and advances, the group’s core business activity,

respectively but we all know of the struggles these countries

increasing by approximately $17 million and representing 42% of the

encountered in 2010 and in fact, there are no signs that the

above mentioned growth in assets. The Group’s liquidity remained

economic problems, which have been characterized by high

adequate and for the most part, very strong throughout the fiscal so that

unemployment, substantial fiscal deficits and major investment

it was consistently in a very good position to meet all its commitments.

losses, personal and institutional, will abate any time soon. What
this means is that there is a long road to economic recovery
ahead. It is well known that economic troubles in countries like
the United States and United Kingdom in particular inevitably

ACB MORTGAGE AND
TRUST COMPANY LIMITED

result in even greater troubles for small countries like Antigua &
Barbuda. Foreign Direct Investments (FDI)), which declined in

Despite the difficult economic and financial conditions described

2009 declined further in 2010 so that the vital tourism sector

above, the subsidiary, ACB Mortgage and Trust Company Limited

was impacted negatively from the standpoint of no major foreign

pursued a more prudent approach in that challenged environment of

investment reaching our shores and this would have further

increased credit risk and that resulted in the Company’s asset base

negatively affected the construction industry , which has been a

expanding by 1.46% to $236.3 million. Such prudence created

major contributor to GDP in the past. As a consequence of the

a drag on the Company’s core business of loans and advances

downturn in the tourist industry and the decline in construction,

which ultimately resulted in the portfolio declining by 1.47% to

unemployment became a major issue and cause for serious

$160.7 million. The outcome lowered the appetite for deposit

concern worldwide in 2010.

liabilities and as a consequence the portfolio declined by 0.43%
to $196.2 million. Despite the marginal decline in the Company’s

As a result of the negative shocks highlighted immediately

core business, interest income recorded growth of 1.71% to $17.8

above, Antigua & Barbuda recorded a 4.1 % decline in real

million. However, long term funds such as Debenture Stocks and

GDP in 2010. This followed a 7.1% decline in 2009 so that the

Thrift Funds elevated the interest expense position and caused

fiscal challenges, which have assailed the country, have been

an increase of 3.81% to $10.9 million. The outcome resulted in a

enormous and are expected to feature for a considerable period

2.47% decline in total income to $7.9 million.

to come. Additionally, unemployment increased in 2010 with the
result that financial institutions have had to contend with higher

It was against this challenged economic environment that the

delinquencies, which have negatively impacted their bottom line

subsidiary, ACB Mortgage and Trust Company Limited recorded

in some instances.

profit after Impairment of Investment and Taxation of $4.2 million,
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an increase of 23.53% over the net position of $3.4 million for the

HR ACHIEVEMENTS

previous year.
The Bank enhanced the payroll system it acquired in 2009
The Board declared a dividend of 30 cents per unit share for fiscal

through the implementation of a Payroll Interface, which allows

2010 which is the same level as 2009.

for the direct deposit of our employees’ salaries to their respective
accounts and eliminated the tedious and manual process
hitherto in place. The upgrade also allowed easy access to

STRATEGIC INITIATIVES

stored personnel information for prior years. The Bank has
always recognized and continues to appreciate the need to train

In line with our Strategic Plan covering the period 2008 to 2011,

its employees in order to equip them with the knowledge and

the Bank embarked on the creation of a new branch at the Village

skills required to do their jobs effectively and well. Therefore, as in

Walk Commercial Centre on Friar’s Hill Road. We upgraded our

previous years, training internally and externally was carried out

technology platform and various other areas of our technology in

extensively to the benefit of many employees and by extension,

order to further safeguard our operations and improve efficiency

the Bank.

for the benefit of both our internal and external customers. We also
purchased a number of new Automated Teller Machines (ATM) to
replace the ones in existence and to expand our network so that

LOOKING AHEAD

we remain the bank with the largest ATM network in Antigua &
Barbuda. In summary, we expended 3.2M on capital expenditure

Strong and effective Corporate Governance Practices by members

in 2010.

of the Board of Directors and Management of the Group have
been and continue to be key drivers of our operations. In fact, in
face of the extended difficult economic conditions, which greatly

ACB-OUR COMMITMENT TO OUR ROLE AS A GOOD
CORPORATE CITIZEN.

affected the banking industry worldwide and in the region, our
focus on good corporate governance was even greater and it was
as a result of this coupled with vigilant and effective leadership that

Antigua Commercial Bank’s vision is to be the premier financial

the Bank weathered the economic storms, which assailed it in

services provider to each client we serve worldwide, creating

fiscal 2010 and produced the encouraging results, which I alluded

wealth and opportunities for all stakeholders in an ever changing

to under “Performance” above.

environment. Antigua Commercial Bank is an organization that was
built on the strength of nine pioneering men who had a vision to

The predictions from many credible sources are that the

build a bank by the people, for the people. With this purpose in

economic turmoil, which surfaced in 2008, will likely continue for

mind, the Bank every year since opening its doors, has given back

another 3 years at least or even more depending how quickly the

to the community .

economies of the United States and Europe recover. However,
although cautious, we are not daunted by the somewhat

The Bank is committed to providing exceptional service, user friendly

gloomy prospects and we remain satisfied that our staff has the

and innovative products while creating wealth and opportunities for

experience and knowledge required to guide the Bank through

all stakeholders. However, equally important to the core of the

the ongoing economic turbulence. We shall also continue to

organization is educational development, cultural development,

be guided by our established tradition of Strength, Service and

and youth empowerment; elements all vital to community building.

Solution, which we have highlighted in this report.

To this end, our Directors, Management and Staff as individual
segments or as a body contribute time and money to different
community efforts throughout the year.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We continued to honour well rounded students with our Antigua

Our customers, shareholders and other stakeholders have stood

Commercial Bank Louis H. Lockhart Scholarship and the ACB

by us throughout these difficult economic times and on behalf

Mortgage & Trust Company Ltd. Secondary School Scholarship;

of the Board of Directors, I express my deep gratitude and

provided exposure for academic advancement with the International

appreciation for their loyalty, support and confidence in Antigua

College Fair and Business Interview Challenge; offered assistance to

Commercial Bank, our Bank. I also thank our staff for their

the elderly and less fortunate with our Fiennes Institute Independence

support and continued invaluable contribution to the Group’s

Project and ACB Staff Christmas Pantry; assisted in keeping culture

good results in fiscal 2010 and their dedication to excellence

alive with our support of pan at Carnival and at Independence; and

over the years.

brought the community together with our Christmas In the Park event.

.08.

C. DAVIDSON CHARLES

Antigua Commercial Bank Annual Report 2010
SOLUTIONS

CHAIRMAN - BOARD OF DIRECTORS

.BRANCHING OUT.

BRICK AND MORTAR, STILL A SOLUTION FOR
COMMUNITY BUILDING
Banking just got more convenient. With our many locations, there is an Antigua Commercial Bank branch
close to where you work and play.
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Corporate Social
Responsibility
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01. ACB Louis H. Lockhart Scholarship Recipient Seymour Mario Blackman receives his scholarship cheque from Director Reuben Deubry. 02. Students of
AGHS pose with the official 2010 International College Fair Booklet. 03. Mario Blackman and ACB Louis H. Lockhart Scholarship Screening Committee 04.
Austin Richards Jr. was Parish League Cricket Player of the Year 05. ACB Team members prepare to serve the residents at Fiennes Institute. 06. Sunnyside
Tutorial School at Schools’ Panorama 07. Marketing & Public Relations Rep Shantia Edwards presents donation cheque to Michelle Henry (r) - Curator of
the Museum of Antigua & Barbuda 08. Director Michael Roberts presents the award to the ACB Mortgage & Trust Co. Ltd. Secondary School Scholarship
recipient J’Qwan Mercury 09. Sasha Jarvis, Marketing & Research Rep. accepts the Philanthropy Award on behalf of ACB from the Ministry of Education,
Culture & Youth Affairs 10. Expressions bringing cheer at Christmas in the Park. 11. Dr. Didacus Jules at the Dr. Francis Memorial Lecture.
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“Open and fair discussion is essential to ensure that the decision making process is
approached in an objective and efficient manner.”
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Directors’
Report
Compliance with established Corporate Governance Principles remains the
focus of the BOARD OF DIRECTORS of ANTIGUA COMMERCIAL BANK (ACB).
Members are guided in the performance of their duties and in the fulfillment of
their responsibilities by the Company’s Bylaws, Board Charter and the general
provisions of relevant Banking and Companies Legislation.
At ACB, a corporate governance structure is in place, providing
necessary guidance in accordance with recognized best practices.

The Composition of the ACB Board of Directors is determined
in accordance with the Company’s Bylaws (Clause 4). The
ACB Board comprises ten (10) non- executive Directors, and
is structured in such a way to ensure that the interests of
shareholders are represented fairly and objectively.

ACB’s CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

Shareholders

The elected Chairman of the ACB Board is C. Davidson Charles,
assisted by his Vice-Chairmen, Reuben Deubry, Peter Blanchard
and Gordon Derrick. The remaining Members of the Board are
Michael Roberts, Philip Harris, Craig J.Walter, Alincia WilliamsGrant, Lady Carlisle and Mavis George.

Board of directors

Legal counsel/
corporate secretary

Governance
& Executive
Committee

Investment
Comittee

Credit
Committee

General
manager

Human
Resource &
Compensation
Comittee

Other Sub
Committees

Compliance
Specialist

BOARD COMPOSITION

Audit &
AML /CFT
Overnight
Committee

Chef Internal
Auditor

THE BOARD’S ROLE
The Board’s primary responsibility is to provide effective governance
over the Group’s affairs for the benefit of its shareholders and to
balance the interests of its respective stakeholders. Directors are
expected to exercise independent business judgment in which
they reasonably believe to be in the best interests of the Group.
The Mission, Vision and Philosophy of the ACB Group continue to
provide the necessary foundation upon which Members exercise
their duties.

Gordon Derrick is the Chairman of the Board of Directors for ACB
Mortgage & Trust Company Ltd., the Company’s wholly owned
subsidiary. The Trust Board comprises five (5) ACB Directors
together with two (2) Directors chosen from the shareholders of
ACB in accordance with the relevant provisions of its Articles.
The remaining Members of the Board are C. Davidson Charles,
Reuben Deubry, Michael Roberts, Philip Harris, Reginald
Peterson and Heather Mannix.
Clause 4.5 of the Company’s Bylaws provide as follows:“Tenure: Unless his tenure is sooner determined, a Director shall
hold office for a period not exceeding three years from the date
from which he is elected or appointed or until the close of the
third Annual Meeting of the Shareholders next following but he
shall be eligible for re-election, if qualified.”
At this year’s Annual General Meeting, three (3) Directors will
retire upon rotation in accordance with Clause 4.5 of the
Company’s Bylaws:1.
2.

Director Michael Roberts (first elected - December 21,
2006 and last re-elected – September 24, 2009);
Director Philip Harris (first elected - December 21,
2006 and last re-elected- September 24, 2009);
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3.

Director Mavis George (first elected - September 24,
2009).

All three (3) Directors, being eligible, offer themselves for reelection and are compliant with the provisions of section 3 of the
Companies (Amendment) Act, 2009.

COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD
Board Committees have been established to supplement
the performance of the Board’s duties and the exercise of its
responsibilities. Each Committee is governed by Terms of
Reference, approved by the Board of Directors, which clearly
defines their respective objectives.
GOVERNANCE AND EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE
This Committee is responsible for assessing and directing the
Company’s overall approach to corporate governance and
supervises the executive and operational management of the
Group, as delegated by the Board. The Committee comprises
the following members:C. Davidson Charles- Chairman
Reuben Deubry
Peter Blanchard
Gordon Derrick
Alincia Williams- Grant

AUDIT & AML/CFT OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE
The Audit & AML/CFT Oversight Committee, receives and
reviews reports from the Chief Internal Auditor and Compliance
Specialist, oversees the quality, integrity and timeliness of the
Company’s financial reporting and makes recommendations to
the Board on the appointment of the External Auditor, the Audit
fees and related matter. The Committee comprises the following
members:Craig J. Walter- Chairman
Gordon Derrick
Philip Harris
Michael Roberts
Mavis George

CREDIT COMMITTEE
This Committee overseas the development and implementation
of sound credit policies and procedures and considers credit
matters in excess of Management’s limits and where necessary,
makes recommendations for the further consideration of the
Board of Directors. The Credit Committee comprises the
following members:Peter Blanchard- Chairman
Reuben Deubry
Philip Harris
Michael Roberts
Mavis George
Lady Carlisle
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HUMAN RESOURCE & COMPENSATION COMMITTEE
The Human Resource & Compensation Committee monitors
the industrial relations of the Group, reviews the senior level
organizational structure and general staffing and makes
recommendations to the Board on human resource issues. The
Committee comprises the following members:Reuben Deubry- Chairman
Peter Blanchard
Michael Roberts
Lady Carlisle
Alincia Williams-Grant
MARKETING AND PUBLIC RELATIONS COMMITTEE
This Committee reviews the marketing needs of the Group in
line with its goals and objectives, considers marketing strategies
and monitors their effectiveness and ensures that the public
relations needs of the Group are being adequately met. The
Marketing and Public Relations Committee comprises the
following members:Gordon Derrick- Chairman
Michael Roberts
Mavis George
Lady Carlisle
Philip Harris

INVESTMENT COMMITTEE
The Investment Committee is responsible for ensuring
compliance with the Group’s investment policy, considers
potential investments beyond Management’s limits and proposed
investment strategy and assesses relevant risk factors with a
view to further advising the Board. The Committee comprises
the following members:C. Davidson Charles- Chairman
Peter Blanchard
Reuben Deubry
Mavis George
Alincia Williams- Grant
Craig J.Walter

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING
As part of the Board’s continued commitment to the area of
good corporate governance, the Directors have been accredited
through the Director’s Education and Accreditation Programme
(DEAP) offered by the Eastern Caribbean Securities Exchange
(ECSE) in collaboration with the Chartered Secretaries of
Canada.
During the year, Directors Craig J. Walter and Lady Carlisle
together with Legal Counsel/ Corporate Secretary, Rhodette
Paige, were awarded the designation of Accredited Director.
Additionally, members of the Board participated in Corporate
Governance Seminars and Workshops held throughout the
subject financial period.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS

SHAREHOLDER RELATIONS

Clause 4.3 of the Company’s Bylaws requires each Director to
be a holder of at least $1000 in value of the share capital of the
Company.

Shareholder Relations is an important function of the Legal/
Secretariat Department. The Department’s focus throughout
the year has been to improve the level of interaction with the
Company’s Shareholders. Efforts were expended to updating
respective Shareholders’ files and an email and telephone
registry was established to allow for more personal contact with
the members of the Company.

As at September 30, 2010, Directors of the Company held/
controlled the following shareholdings in Antigua Commercial
Bank:Directors				Nominal Value of Shares $
C. Davidson Charles- Chairman		

1,000

In April, 2010, the first Annual Shareholders Business Luncheon
was held, featuring interactive discussions with Shareholders on
the Topic, “YOUR HEALTH IS YOUR WEALTH”.

Peter Blanchard			29,513
Gordon Derrick			4,600
Reuben Deubry			105,000
Michael Roberts 			

1,000

Philip Harris			5,374
Alincia Williams- Grant		

1,647

Lady Carlisle			14,600
Craig J. Walter			

1,000

Mavis V. George			

1,188

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
The Auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers retire and being eligible,
offer themselves to be appointed the Company’s External
Auditors for the financial year ended September 30, 2011. The
Directors have agreed to recommend to the Shareholders the
subject appointment.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

DIVIDEND
The Directors on 18th May, 2011, authorized an interim dividend
payment of 10% to be paid in August 2011 and recommend
a final payment of 20%, totaling 30% dividend pay out for the
financial year ended September, 30, 2010.

RHODETTE PAIGE
LEGAL COUNSEL/ CORPORATE SECRETARY

SHAREHOLDING
The Securities Act, 2001, defines a Substantial Shareholder as
a person who has an interest in the shares of the Company, the
stated value of which is equal to or more than 5% of the issued
share capital of the Company. In accordance with our disclosure
obligations, it is noted that Shareholders, Sir Clare and Lady
Roberts own 6.7% of the Company as at September 30, 2010.
Shown below is an analysis of the Company’s shareholding as
at September 30, 2010.
Size of Holding in Value $	No. of Shareholders
1-1,000			4,816
1,001-2,000		 304
2,001-5,000		 218
5,001-10,000		 81
10,001-25,000		

52

25,001-100,000		

29

100,001-250,000		

2

250,001-400,000		

1

Total			5,503

.15.
Antigua Commercial Bank Annual Report 2010
SOLUTIONS

“The Board oversees
the implementation of
strategies set. Established
Corporate Governance
principles ensure that
Directors are guided
in the performance of
their duties and at all
times acknowledge the
superior position of THE
COMPANY’S INTERESTS.”

Mr. Gordon Derrick
CHAIRMAN
ACB Mortgage & Trust Company Ltd.

ACB Loans centre at
ACB FINANCIAL CENTRE
“State of the art service to help you
achieve your financial goals.”

board of
directors
Antigua Commercial Bank Ltd.

First row from the left: C. Davidson Charles - Chairman, Gordon Derrick - Vice Chairman, Peter Blanchard - Vice
Chairman, Rueben Deubry - Vice Chairman. Second row from the left: Michael Roberts - Director, Philip Harris Director, Alincia Williams Grant- Director, Lady Carlisle - Director. Third row from the left: Craig J. Walter - Director,
Mavis George - Director
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board of
directors
ACB MORTGAGE & TRUST COMPANY LTD.

First row from the left: Gordon Derrick - Chairman, Reginald Peterson - Director, C. Davidson Charles - Director, Heather
Mannix - Director. Second row from the left: Michael Roberts - Director, Reuben Deubry - Director, Philip Harris - Director.
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“Get the convenience you need from the Bank you trust
with an Antigua Commercial Bank Visa Debit Card.”

“At ACB, they are willing to sit with me to
hear my ideas, providing assistance from the
planning to the implementation stage. I receive
real solutions for my business.”

Mr. Gladston Joseph
GENERAL MANAGER
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“The ACB Group
has been built to
meet the full range of
financial needs for its
customers; to attract
the best employees;
to support the
community in which
we do business;
and to create long
term value for our
Shareholders.”

Management
Discussion and
Analysis
Earnings Per Share

interest income

The consolidated results for the Bank reflected earnings
per share of $3.83 and while this is lower than the $4.26 per
share generated the previous fiscal, it represents a creditable
performance when viewed against the backdrop of the
increasingly difficult local economic environment in which we
operate and, of course, there were the global financial and
economic challenges to contend with. Further, the earnings
per share of $3.83 matches the second highest in the group’s
history.

Earnings Per Share
Other Income
This category decreased by $3.398 million or 28% due largely to
a decline of $2.882 million or 70% in Dividend income and $0.187
million in foreign exchange earnings. In the case of the former,
it will be recalled that there was a one time substantial increase
in Dividend income of $2.47 million from equity investments in
the previous fiscal while the downturn in the tourist industry,
a reduction in foreign transactions and volatility in exchange
rates relative to the EURO and Pound Sterling in particular were
The other major highlights of the Bank’s performance are

responsible for the decline in revenue from the latter.

discussed below:

Interest Income

Other income

Total Interest Income decreased by $0.856 million or 1.4%
compared to fiscal 2009. Specifically, income from loans declined
by $0.501 million or 9.7% and was largely as a result of local
market conditions, which dictated the lowering of interest
rates for competitive and other reasons. Therefore, although
our loan volumes increased, there was no corresponding
increase in revenue from this source for the reason provided
above. Additionally, income from deposits with other banks and
investments declined by $0.355 million or 3.6% and reflected
largely the decline in the quantum of surplus funds, which were
available for placement with other banks due to tightening liquidity.
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Interest Expense

Assets

This expense category increased by $0.409 million or 1.6%,
largely as a result of the increase in the deposit liability, mainly
time and call deposits. These deposits ensured that adequate
liquidity was maintained on a consistent basis in a difficult financial
and economic environment where liquidly posed challenges for
some financial institutions in the Eastern Caribbean Currency
Union. These excess funds allowed for short term placements
with other banks, which generated interest income, which
served to offset the increase in deposit cost.

Despite the deepening financial and economic crisis, the group’s
assets increased by $40.153 million or approximately 5%,
which was creditable given the challenges the banking industry
encountered in 2010.

Assets GROWTH

Interest Expense

Loans and Advances

Operating expense
These expenses declined by $1.824 million or approximately 6.4
%, however, General & Administrative expenses by themselves
increased by $2.364 million or 11.9% and represented largely
one time restructuring costs of 0.766 million, salary and related
cost increases of $0.707 million and increase of 0.338 million
in non-credit losses resulting from prior years’ adjustments.
Provision for loan impairment declined by $5.498 million and
reflected some further degree of improvement in the quality of
our lending portfolio. However, the positive impact expected
from the said decline was nullified by a near equal provision of
$4.945 million for impairment of investment securities.

Net Income

The demand for loans declined in the fiscal due to the
difficult economic and financial challenges alluded to above.
Nevertheless, the group’s loans portfolio grew by $16.947
million or 3% and the Bank’s liquidity was more than adequate
to fund the growth.

loans and advances

Other areas of the Group’s
performance at a glance
interest mix

As a result of all the above, the group realized a consolidated net
income of $14.427 million, which was $1.590 million less than that
generated the previous fiscal. This is the second largest bottom
line performance in the group’s history and came after a large
provision of $4.945million for impaired investment securities and
against the backdrop of a financial crisis, which had its genesis in
2008 and which deepened severely since then.

net income
Deposit growth
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Mr. Peter N. Ashe
MANAGER- ACB MORTGAGE
& TRUST COMPANY LIMITED

“We deliver tailored
Solutions to meet your ever
changing needs.”

“With the largest ATM
Network, you’re never far
away from your money”

“Your Bank of choice is always open
for business at www.acbonline.com”

Management
team

(From left to right) First Row: Gladston Joseph, General Manager; Denise Armstrong, Assistant General Manager - Credit & Control; Peter
N. Ashe, Manager - ACB Mortgage & Trust Co. Ltd.; Second Row: Dr. Austin Josiah, HR Executive with Rhodette Paige, Legal Counsel/
Corporate Secretary and Austen Gittens, Chief Internal Auditor; Joyanne Byers - Cornelius- Finance & Accounting Executive with IT Manager Michael Robertson; Shawn Nicholas- Marketing and PR Executive.; Third Row: Jonathan Lindsay - Manager - Customer Relations & Service
Quality with Arlene Edwards - Manager - Private and Corporate Banking and Geoffrey Simmons - Consumer Lending Officer; Jennifer Hector Customer Service Officer; Fourth Row: Sidlow Frank - Network Administrator/LAN Analyst; Jacqueline Hewlett - Compliance Specialist; Irvine
Lee - Manager - Corporate Operations; Eurel Hodge - Training and Recruitment Officer with Maria Scotland - Audit Officer
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Independent Auditors’ Report
To the Shareholders of
Antigua Commercial Bank Limited
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Antigua Commercial Bank Limited (the
‘Group’), which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at September 30, 2010, and the consolidated statements
of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory notes.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and for such internal control relevant as management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.
Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in
accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those Standards require that we comply with ethical requirements
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from
material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors
consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Group as at September 30, 2010 and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Chartered Accountants
St. John’s, Antigua
PricewaterhouseCoopers refers to the East Caribbean firm of PricewaterhouseCoopers and the other member firms of PricewaterhouseCoopers International Limited, each of which
is a separate and independent legal entity. A full listing of the partners of the East Caribbean firm is available on request at the above address.
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Antigua Commercial Bank Limited
Consolidated Balance Sheet
As of September 30, 2010

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

2010
$

2009
$

Cash and balances with the Central Bank (note 5)
Due from other banks (note 6)
Treasury bills (note 7)
Statutory deposit (note 8)
Loans and advances (note 9)
Other assets (note 10)
Investment securities (note 11)
Property, plant and equipment (note 12)
Pension asset (note 13)

40,727,183
89,491,261
17,382,971
4,262,944
565,808,312
8,724,424
74,453,867
40,890,648
6,425,129

36,842,022
71,956,396
7,771,312
4,262,944
548,861,246
7,647,394
84,447,883
40,388,718
5,955,555

Total assets

848,166,739

808,133,470

Income tax payable (note 17)
Deposits due to customers (note 14)
Other liabilities and accrued expenses (note 15)
Due under repurchase agreements (note 19)
Long-term debenture liabilities (note 20)
Deferred tax liability (note 17)

6,743,333
651,382,746
7,767,069
1,568,670
33,205,000
8,224,123

5,645,919
627,206,251
9,264,577
1,779,263
29,110,000
7,835,111

Total liabilities

708,890,941

680,841,121

5,000,000
10,000,000
78,696,060
45,579,738

5,000,000
10,000,000
77,575,596
34,716,753

Total equity

139,275,798

127,292,349

Total liabilities and equity

848,166,739

808,133,470

Assets

Liabilities

Equity

Share capital (note 21)
Statutory reserve (note 22)
Other reserves (note 23)
Retained earnings

The
integral
of these
financial
statements.
The notes
notes on pages 138toto63100
areare
an an
integral
partpart
of these
financial
statements.

Approved for issue by the Board of Directors on [
__________________________________ Chairman

]
______________________________ Director
______________________________ Director
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Antigua Commercial Bank Limited

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended September 30, 2010
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

2010
$

2009
$

50,735,551
9,413,449

51,236,626
9,768,240

60,149,000

61,004,866

12,914,445
10,843,713
1,880,777

12,725,443
9,854,523
1,650,504

25,638,935

24,230,470

34,510,065

36,774,396

8,379,587

11,777,995

Total income

42,889,652

48,552,391

Operating expenses
General and administrative expenses (note 25)
Provision for impairment of investment securities (note 11)
Depreciation (note 12)
(Recovery of) provision for loan impairment (note 9)
Directors’ fees and expenses

22,207,009
4,970,565
2,607,934
(3,930,924)
795,629

19,868,441
3,453,609
2,664,359
1,566,786
921,116

26,650,213

28,474,311

Operating income for the year

16,239,439

20,078,080

Taxation (note 17)
Current tax expense
Prior year (over) under accrual
Deferred tax charge

3,478,706
(2,381,292)
714,751

2,605,552
74,503
1,380,674

1,812,165

4,060,729

14,427,274

16,017,351

3.83

4.26

(957,100)

1,719,544

13,470,174

17,736,895

Interest income
Income from loans and advances
Income from deposits with other banks and investments

Interest expense
Savings accounts
Time deposits and current accounts
Debenture stock

Net interest income
Other operating income (note 24)

Net income for the year
Earnings per share (note 26)
Other comprehensive income
(Decline) appreciation in market value of investment securities, net of
taxes
Total comprehensive income for the year
The notes on pages 1 to 63 are an integral part of these financial statements.
The notes on pages 38 to 100 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Antigua Commercial Bank Limited
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended September 30, 2010
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

2009
$

Cash flows from operating activities
Operating income for the year
Items not affecting cash
Provision for impairment of investment securities
Depreciation
Provision for loan loss impairment
Increase in pension asset
Stock dividend received
Interest income
Interest expense

16,239,439

20,078,080

4,970,565
2,607,934
(4,879,533)
(469,574)
–
(60,149,000)
25,638,935

3,453,609
2,664,359
1,566,786
(658,072)
(1,993,334)
(61,004,866)
24,230,470

Cash flows used in operating activities before changes in operating assets
and liabilities

(16,041,234)

(11,662,968)

Increase in other receivables and other assets
Increase in loans and advances
Increase (decrease) in customer deposits
Decrease in other liabilities and accrued liabilities

(2,858,421)
(12,697,659)
23,205,872
(1,497,508)

(917,806)
(41,094,193)
(12,266,483)
(1,773,163)

(9,888,950)

(67,714,613)

61,075,433
(24,668,312)
–

60,813,535
(24,532,202)
–

Net cash flows from (used in) operating activities

26,518,171

(31,433,280)

Cash flows from investing activities
Redemption of investment securities
Purchase of property, plant & equipment
Purchase of investment securities

3,758,779
(3,109,864)
(401,200)

3,368,797
(3,063,609)
–

Cash flows used in operating activities before interest and taxes
Interest received
Interest paid
Tax paid

Net cash flows from investing activities
Cash flows financing activities
Increase in long-term liabilities
Redemption of repurchase agreements
Dividends paid
Net cash flows from financing activities

34

2010
$

247,715

305,188

4,095,000
(210,593)
(1,500,000)

6,575,000
(100,000)
(3,250,000)

2,384,407

3,225,000
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Antigua Commercial Bank Limited

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows …continued
For the year ended September 30, 2010
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

2010
$
Net increase (decrease) in cash
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year (note 27)

29,150,293
86,787,040
115,937,333

2009
$
(27,903,092)
114,690,132
86,787,040

The notes on pages 1 to 63 are an integral part of these financial statements.
The notes on pages 38 to 100 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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36
–

–

Increase in pension reserve

Transaction with owners
Dividends paid

5,000,000

–

Increase in revaluation of property, plant and equipment (net of tax
of $413,282)

Balance, September 30, 2009

–

–

Reserve for loan loss (note 23)

10,000,000

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

10,000,000

reserve
$

5,000,000

Statutory

Share
capital
$

$1,042,255)

Other comprehensive income
Appreciation in market value of investment securities (net of tax of

Net income for the year

Balance, September 30, 2008

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

For the year ended September 30, 2010

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Antigua Commercial Bank Limited

26,723,105

–

–

–

–

–

–

26,723,105

reserve
$

General

7,461,949

–

–

–

–

–

–

7,461,949

reserve
$

Capital

16,560,738

–

–

–

6,246,222

–

–

10,314,516

loan loss
$

Reserve for

9,736,675

–

–

2,091,827

–

–

–

11,137,574

–

–

–

–

1,719,544

–

9,418,030

5,955,555

–

658,072

–

–

–

5,297,483

reserve
$

securities
$

property
$
7,644,848

Pension

Reserve available
for sale

Revaluation
Reserve -

Revaluation

34,716,753

(3,250,000)

(658,072)

(6,246,222)

–

16,017,351

28,853,696

earnings
$

Retained

127,292,349

(3,250,000)

–

2,091,827

–

1,719,544

16,017,351

110,713,627

Total
$
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–
–

–
–

Release of revaluation on property, plant and equipment (net of tax
of $13,274)

Increase in pension reserve

5,000,000

10,000,000

26,723,105

–

–

–

–

–

–

26,723,105

$

General
reserve

The notes on pages 38 to 100 are an integral part of these financial statements.

The notes on pages 1 to 63 are an integral part of these financial statements.

Balance, September 30, 2010

Dividends paid

–

–

–

Reserve for loan loss (note 23)

–

–

–

Other comprehensive income
Appreciation in market value of investment securities (net of tax of
$312,465)

Transactions with owners

–

–

Net income for the year

$

$
10,000,000

Statutory
reserve

Share
capital

5,000,000

Balance, September 30, 2009

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

For the year ended September 30, 2010

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity … continued

Antigua Commercial Bank Limited

7,461,949

–

–

–

–

–

–

7,461,949

$

Capital
reserve

18,208,550

–

–

–

1,647,811

–

–

16,560,739

$

Reserve for
loan loss

9,696,853

–

–

(39,822)

–

–

–

10,180,474

–

–

–

–

(957,099)

–

11,137,573

6,425,129

–

469,574

–

–

–

–

5,955,555

$

$

$
9,736,675

Pension
reserve

available
for sale
securities

Revaluation
Reserve property

Revaluation
Reserve -

45,579,738

(1,500,000)

(469,574)

53,096

(1,647,811)

–

14,427,274

34,716,753

$

Retained
earnings

139,275,798

(1,500,000)

–

13,274

–

(957,099)

14,427,274

127,292,349

$

Total
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Antigua Commercial Bank Limited
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
September 30, 2010

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)
1

Incorporation and principal activity
Antigua Commercial Bank Limited (“the Bank”) is a limited liability company incorporated on 19th October
1955 under caption 358 of the laws of Antigua and Barbuda. The Bank is regulated by the Eastern Caribbean
Central Bank (‘the ECCB’) in accordance with the Banking Act No. 14 of 2005 and the Eastern Caribbean
Central Bank Act No. 10 of 1983. The Bank and its subsidiaries (the ‘Group’) offer a complete range of
commercial banking and related services.
The Bank’s registered office is located at St. Mary’s and Thames Streets, St. John’s, Antigua.

2

Significant accounting policies
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are set out
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented unless otherwise stated.
a)

Basis of preparation
These consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards and IFRIC interpretations as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. The
consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by
the revaluation of property and available-for-sale investment securities which have been measured at fair
value.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its
judgement in the process of applying the Group's accounting policies. Changes in assumptions may have a
significant impact of the financial statements in the period the assumptions are changed. Management
believes that the underlying assumptions are appropriate and the Group's financial statements therefore
present the financial position and results fairly. The areas involving a high degree of judgement or
complexity or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are
disclosed in note 4.
Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards relevant to the Group, that are not yet
effective and have not been early adopted by the Group


IAS 1 (amendment), ‘Presentation of financial statements’. The amendment clarifies that the potential
settlement of a liability by the issue of equity is not relevant to its classification as current or noncurrent. By amending the definition of current liability, the amendment permits a liability to be
classified as non-current (provided that the entity has an unconditional right to defer settlement by
transfer of cash or other assets for at least 12 months after the accounting period) notwithstanding the
fact that the entity could be required by the counterparty to settle in shares at any time.



IAS 24 (revised), ‘Related party disclosures’, issued in November 2009. It supersedes IAS 24,
‘Related party disclosures’, issued in 2003. IAS 24 (revised) is mandatory for periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2011. The revised standard clarifies and simplifies the definition of a related party
and removes the requirement for government-related entities to disclose details of all transaction with
the government and other government-related entities.

(1)
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Antigua Commercial Bank Limited
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
September 30, 2010

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

2

Significant accounting policies … continued
a)

Basis of preparation … continued
Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards relevant to the Group, that are not yet
effective and have not been early adopted by the Group … continued

b)



IFRS 9, ‘Financial instruments’, issued in November 2009. This standard is the first step in the
process to replace IAS 39, ‘Financial instruments: recognition and measurement’. IFRS 9 introduces
new requirements for classifying and measuring financial assets and is likely to affect the bank’s
accounting for its financial assets. The standard is not applicable until 1 January 2015 but is
available for early adoption. The Bank is yet to assess IFRS 9’s full impact. However, initial
indications are that it may affect the Bank’s accounting for its available-for-sale financial assets. Fair
value gains and losses on available-for-sale investments, for example, will be recognised directly in
profit or loss.



IFRIC 19, ‘Extinguishing financial liabilities with equity instruments’, effective 1 July 2010. The
interpretation clarifies the accounting by an entity when the terms of a financial liability are
renegotiated and result in the entity issuing equity instruments to a creditor of the entity to extinguish
all or part of the financial liability (debt for equity swap). It requires a gain or loss to be recognised in
profit or loss, which is measured as the difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability and the fair value of the equity instruments issued. If the fair value of the equity instruments
issued cannot be reliably measured, the equity instruments should be measured to reflect the fair
value of the financial liability extinguished. It is not expected to have any impact on the financial
statements.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Bank and its subsidiaries, ACB
Mortgage and Trust Company Limited and ACB Investment Co. Limited. Subsidiaries are all entities over
which the Bank has the power to govern the financial and operating policies generally accompanying a
shareholding of more than one half of the voting rights. The existence and effect of potential voting rights
that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether the Bank controls
another entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the
Bank. They are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases.
Inter-company transactions and balances between group companies are eliminated.

c)

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, non-mandatory deposits with the ECCB and other
banks, treasury bills and other eligible bills, short-term funds and investments with original maturities of
less than or equal to ninety days.

(2)
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Antigua Commercial Bank Limited
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
September 30, 2010

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

2

Significant accounting policies … continued
d)

Financial assets and liabilities
In accordance with IAS 39, all financial assets and liabilities are recognised in the balance sheet and
measured in accordance with their assigned category.
Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets in the following IAS 39 categories: loans and receivables and
available-for-sale financial assets. Management determines the classification of its financial instruments at
initial recognition.
(i)

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that
are not quoted in an active market other than:
(a) those that the Group upon initial recognition designates as available-for-sale; or
(b) those for which the holder may not recover substantially all of its initial investment, other than
because of credit deterioration.
Loans and receivables are initially recognised at fair value – which is the cash consideration to
originate or purchase the loan including any transaction costs – and measured subsequently at
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

(ii) Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale investments are financial assets that are intended to be held for an indefinite period
of time, which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or changes in interest rates, exchange
rates or equity prices or that are not classified as loans and receivables.
Recognition and measurement
Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets classified as available-for-sale are recognised on
trade-date (the date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset). Investments are
initially recognised at fair value plus transactions costs for all financial assets not carried at fair value
through profit or loss. Financial assets are de-recognised when the rights to receive cash flows from
the financial assets have expired or where the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards
of ownership.
Available-for-sale financial assets are subsequently carried at fair value. However, investments in
equity instruments that do not have a quoted market price in an active market, and whose fair value
cannot be reliably measured, are carried at cost less impairment, if any. Loans and receivables are
carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses arising from changes in
the fair value of available-for-sale financial assets are recognised directly in equity, until the financial
asset is de-recognised or impaired at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in
equity is recognised in profit or loss. However, interest calculated using the effective interest method
is recognised in the statement of income. Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments are
recognised in the statement of income when the entity’s right to receive payment is established.

(3)
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Antigua Commercial Bank Limited
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
September 30, 2010

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

2

Significant accounting policies … continued
d)

Financial assets and liabilities … continued
(ii) Available-for-sale financial assets…continued
The fair values of quoted investments in active markets are based on current bid prices. If there is no
active market for a financial asset, the Group establishes fair value using valuation techniques or at
cost, less impairment if the fair value cannot be reliably measured and the asset is not impaired.
Financial liabilities
The Group’s financial liabilities are carried at amortised cost. Financial liabilities are de-recognised when
extinguished. Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost are deposits from banks or customers.

e)

Impairment of financial assets
(i) Assets carried at amortised cost
The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that a financial
asset or group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is
impaired and impairment losses are incurred if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment
as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a ‘loss event’)
and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset
or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Objective evidence that a financial asset or
group of assets is impaired includes observable data that comes to the attention of the Group about the
following loss events:
(i)

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or obligor;

(ii)

a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments;

(iii)

the Group granting to the borrower, for economic or legal reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, a concession that the lender would not otherwise consider;

(iv)

it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

(v)

the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties; or

(vi)

observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows
from a group of financial assets since the initial recognition of those assets, although the
decrease cannot yet be identified with the individual financial assets in the group, including:
– adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers in the group; or
– national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on the assets in the group.

The Group first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial
assets that are individually significant, and individually or collectively for financial assets that are not
individually significant. If the Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for
an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of
financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment.

(4)
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Antigua Commercial Bank Limited
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
September 30, 2010

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

2

Significant accounting policies … continued
e)

Impairment of financial assets … continued
(i) Assets carried at amortised cost … continued
Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is or continues
to be recognised are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.
The amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been
incurred) discounted at the financial asset's original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of
the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is
recognised in the income statement. If a loan has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for
measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate determined under the contract.
As a practical expedient, the Group may measure impairment on the basis of an instrument’s fair
value using an observable market price.
The calculation of the present value of the estimated future cash flows of a collateralised financial
asset reflects the cash flows that may result from foreclosure less costs for obtaining and selling the
collateral, whether or not foreclosure is probable.
For the purposes of a collective evaluation of impairment, financial assets are grouped on the basis of
similar credit risk characteristics according to asset type and past due status. These characteristics are
relevant to the estimation of future cash flows for groups of such assets by being indicative of the
debtors’ ability to pay all amounts due according to the contractual terms of the assets being
evaluated.
The evaluation of the impairment is based on the historical loss experience associated with each
group of assets. The historical loss experience is adjusted on the basis of current observable data to
reflect the effects of current conditions that did not affect the period on which the historical loss
experience is based and to remove the effects of conditions in the historical data that do not exist
currently. In addition, a review of losses reported after the financial year end for which there was
evidence of impairment during the financial year are considered in the measurement of impairment.
When a loan is uncollectible, it is written off against the related provision for loan impairment. Such
loans are written off after all the necessary procedures have been completed and the amount of the
loss has been determined.
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be
related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised (such as an
improvement in the debtor's credit rating), the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed by
adjusting the allowance account. The amount of the reversal is recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income in impairment charge for credit losses.
Statutory and other regulatory loan loss reserve requirements that exceed these amounts are dealt
with in reserves as an appropriation of retained earnings.

(5)
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Antigua Commercial Bank Limited
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
September 30, 2010

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

2

Significant accounting policies … continued
e)

Impairment of financial assets … continued
(ii) Assets classified as available-for-sale
The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that a financial
asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. In the case of equity investments classified as
available for sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below its cost is
considered in determining whether the assets are impaired. Where an available-for-sale security is
unquoted, objective evidence of impairment is identified if there are significant financial difficulties
of the issuer and if there is a prolonged decline in the reported share value of the issuer when
compared to the carrying value of the security in the Group’s financial statements. If any such
evidence exists for available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss - measured as the
difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that
financial asset previously recognised in profit or loss - is removed from equity and recognised in the
income statement. Impairment losses recognised in the income statement on equity instruments are
not reversed through income. If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a debt instrument classified
as available-for-sale increases and the increase can be objectively related to an event occurring after
the impairment loss was recognised in profit or loss, the impairment loss is reversed through the
profit or loss.

f)

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past
events, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made. Provisions are not
recognised for future operational losses.
Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in
settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised
even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same class of obligations
may be small.
Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognised as
interest expense.

(6)
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Significant accounting policies … continued
g)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost or valuation, less accumulated depreciation.
Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line method at rates estimated to write down the cost or valuation
of such assets to their residual values over their estimated useful lives at the following annual rates:
Buildings
ATM buildings and building improvements
Furniture and fixtures
Equipment
Motor vehicles
Computer hardware
Computer software
Car park

2.5%
10%
15%
10%
20%
20%
33.3%
33.3%

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or are recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. Repairs and renewals are charged to the
statement of comprehensive income when the expenditure is incurred.
The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at each balance sheet
date.
Property, plant and equipment are periodically reviewed for impairment whenever events or circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. When the carrying amount of an asset is greater
than its estimated recoverable amount, it is written down immediately to its recoverable amount.
Gains and losses on the disposal of property, plant and equipment are determined by reference to their
carrying amount and are taken into account in determining operating profit.
Revaluations of property are carried out every 3 years based on independent valuations.
h) Intangible assets
Computer software
Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring
to use the specific software. These costs are amortised over their estimated useful lives of three years.
Costs associated with maintaining computer software programmes are recognised as an expense when
incurred.

(7)
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Significant accounting policies … continued
i)

Taxation
Current income tax
Income tax payable (receivable) is calculated on the basis of the applicable tax law in the respective
jurisdiction and is recognised as an expense (income) for the period except to the extent that current tax
relates to items that are charged or credited directly to equity. In these circumstances, current tax is
charged or credited to equity.
The Company does not offset income tax liabilities and current income tax assets.
Deferred income tax
Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements.
Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially
enacted by the date of the balance sheet and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax
asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.
The principal temporary differences arise from depreciation of property, plant and equipment, loan loss
provision, and the revaluation of certain financial assets and liabilities. Deferred tax assets are recognised
when it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which these temporary differences
can be utilised.
The tax effects of carry-forwards of unused losses or unused tax credits are recognised as an asset when it
is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which these losses can be utilised. Deferred
tax related to fair value re-measurement of available-for-sale investments which are recognised in equity,
is also recognised in the statement of equity together with the deferred gain or loss.

j)

Dividends on ordinary shares and dividend income
Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised in equity in the period in which they are approved by
shareholders. Dividends for the year which are approved after the balance sheet date are noted as a
subsequent event (note 16).
Dividend income is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income when the entity’s right to
receive payment is established.

(8)
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Significant accounting policies … continued
k)

Interest income and expense and revenue recognition
Interest income and expense for all interest-bearing financial instruments are recognised using the
effective interest method.
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or a
financial liability and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant period. The
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through
the expected life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset or financial liability. When calculating the effective interest rate, the Group
estimates cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument (for example,
prepayment options) but does not consider future credit losses.
The calculation includes all fees paid or received between parties to the contract that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums or discounts. Once a financial asset or
a group of similar financial assets has been written down as a result of an impairment loss, interest income
is recognised using the rate of interest to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the
impairment loss.

l)

Fees and commissions income and revenue recognition
Fees and commissions are generally recognised on the accrual basis when the service has been provided.
Loan origination fees for loans which are probable of being drawn down, are deferred (together with
related direct costs) and recognised as an adjustment to the effective yield on the loan.
Commission and fees arising from negotiating or participating in the negotiation of a transaction for a third
party, such as the acquisition of shares or other securities are recognised on completion of the underlying
transaction.

m) Foreign currency translation
Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the Group operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in Eastern Caribbean dollars, which is the Group’s functional and presentation
currency.
Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions that are denominated, or that require settlement, in a foreign currency are
translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Eastern Caribbean
dollars at the closing rates of exchange prevailing at the balance sheet date. Foreign currency transactions
are translated at the rates prevailing on the transaction dates. Foreign exchange gains or losses arising
from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.
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Significant accounting policies … continued
n)

Employee benefits
A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that defines an amount of pension benefit that an employee will
receive on retirement, usually dependent on one or more factors such as age, years of service and
compensation. The pension benefit is based on the final salary of the employee.
An asset or liability recognised in the balance sheet in respect of defined benefit pension plans is the
present value of the defined benefit obligation at the balance sheet date less the fair value of plan assets,
together with adjustments for unrecognised actuarial gains or losses and past service costs. The defined
benefit obligation is calculated by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method. Under
this method, the cost of providing pensions is charged to the statement of income so as to spread the
regular cost over the service lives of employees in accordance with the advice of qualified actuaries who
carry out a full valuation of the plan every three years.
The pension obligation is measured as the present value of the discounted estimated future cash outflows
using interest rates of long-term government bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the
benefits will be paid, and which have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the related liability.
Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are
charged or credited to income in the period in which they arise, over the employees’ expected average
remaining working lives, where these amounts represent an excess over the 10% corridor.
Past-service costs are recognised immediately in the statement of comprehensive income, unless the
changes to the pension plan are conditional on the employees remaining in service for a specified period of
time (the vesting period). In this case, the past-service costs are amortised on a straight-line basis over the
vesting period.
The pension plan is funded by payments from employees and the Group, taking into account the
recommendations of independent qualified actuaries.

o)

Leases
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are
classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases are charged to the income statement
on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease. All of the Group’s leases at September 30, 2010 were
classified as operating leases.

p) Repurchase agreements
Securities sold subject to repurchase agreements are included in loans and receivables. These securities
are not secured by collateral. The counterparty liability is included in due under repurchase agreements
and is recorded at fair value. The difference between sale and repurchase price is treated as interest and
accrued over the life of the agreements using the effective interest method.
q)

Offsetting financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis,
or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

(10)
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Significant accounting policies … continued
r)

Trade payables
Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

s)

Impairment of non-financial assets
Assets that are subject to amortisation or depreciation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is
recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the
purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately
identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets that suffered an impairment are
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

3

Financial risk management
Strategy in using financial instruments
By its nature, the Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks and those activities involve the
analysis, evaluation, acceptance and management of some degree of risk or combination of risks. Taking risk
is core to the financial business, and the operational risks are an inevitable consequence of being in business.
The Group’s aim is therefore to achieve an appropriate balance between risk and return and minimise potential
adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.
The Group’s risk management policies are designed to identify and analyse these risks, to set appropriate risk
limits and controls, and to monitor the risks and adherence to limits by means of reliable and up-to-date
information systems. The Group regularly reviews its risk management policies and systems to reflect changes
in markets, products and emerging best practice.
Risk management is carried out by the Group’s management under policies approved by the Board of
Directors. Management identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks. The Board provides guidance for
overall risk management, as well as written policies covering specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk,
interest rate risk and credit risk. The most important types of risk are credit risk, liquidity risk, market risk and
other operational risk. Market risk includes currency risk, interest rate and other price risk.

3.1 Credit risk
The Group takes on exposure to credit risk which is the risk that a counterparty will cause a financial loss to the
Group by failing to discharge an obligation. Credit risk is the most important risk for the Group’s operations.
The Group structures the levels of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on the amount of risk accepted in
relation to one borrower, or groups of borrowers and to geographical and industry segments. Such risks are
monitored on a revolving basis and subject to an annual or more frequent review. Limits on the level of credit
risk by product, industry sector and by country are approved by the Board of Directors. There is also credit risk
in off balance sheet financial instruments, such as loan commitments. Cash deposits with other banks and shortterm investments are placed with reputable regional and international financial institutions and Governments.
Exposure to credit risk is managed through regular analysis of the ability of borrowers and potential borrowers
to meet interest and capital repayment obligations and by changing these lending limits where appropriate.
Exposure to credit risk is also managed in part by obtaining collateral and corporate and personal guarantees.
(11)
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Financial risk management … continued

3.1.1 Credit risk management
(a) Credit related commitments
The Group assesses the probability of default of individual counterparties using internal rating tools tailored to
the various categories of the counterparty. They have been developed based on the Eastern Caribbean Central
Bank guidelines. Customers of the Group are segmented into five rating classes. The Group’s rating scale,
which is shown below, reflects the range of default probabilities defined for each rating class. This means that,
in principle, exposures migrate between classes as the assessment of their probability of default changes. The
ratings tool is reviewed and upgraded as necessary.
Bank’s rating
1
2
3
4
5

Description of the grade
Pass
Special mention
Sub-standard
Doubtful
Loss

(b) Debt securities and other bills
The Group’s portfolio of debt securities and other bills consists of The Government of Antigua and Barbuda
and the Government of St. Kitts and Nevis ninety one day treasury bills, and other debt obligations by regional
banking and non-banking financial institutions, all of which are unrated. The Group assesses the risk of default
on these obligations by regularly monitoring the performance of the Government through published
government data, information received directly from government departments and information published by
international agencies such as the International Monetary Fund (IMF) and the World Bank. The risk of default
on regional corporate debt is assessed by continuous monitoring of the performance of these companies through
published financial information, and other data gleaned from various sources.
3.1.2 Risk limit control and mitigation policies
The Group manages, limits and controls concentrations of credit risk wherever they are identified, in
particular to individual counterparties and groups, and to industries.
The Group structures the levels of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on the amount of risk accepted in
relation to one borrower, or groups of borrowers, and industry segments.
Exposure to credit risk is also managed through regular analysis of the ability of borrowers and potential
borrowers to meet interest and capital repayment obligations and by changing these lending limits where
appropriate.

(12)

49

SOLUTIONS
Antigua commercial bank annual report 2010

Antigua Commercial Bank Limited
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
September 30, 2010

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

3

Financial risk management … continued

3.1.2 Risk limit control and mitigation policies...continued
The following specific control and mitigation measures are also utilised:
(a) Collateral
The Group employs a range of policies and practices to mitigate credit risk. The most traditional of these
is the taking of security for funds advanced, which is common practice. The Group implements
guidelines on the acceptability of specific classes of collateral or credit risk mitigation. The principal
collateral types for loans and advances are:




Mortgages over residential properties.
Charges over business assets such as premises, inventory and accounts receivable.
Charges over financial instruments such as debt securities and equities.

Longer-term finance and lending to corporate entities are generally secured; revolving individual credit
facilities are generally unsecured. In addition, in order to minimise the credit loss the Group will seek
additional collateral from the counterparty as soon as impairment indicators are identified for the relevant
individual loans and advances.
Collateral held as security for financial assets other than loans and advances depends on the nature of the
instrument. Debt securities, treasury and other eligible bills are generally unsecured.
(b) Financial covenants (for credit related commitments and loan books)
The primary purpose of these instruments is to ensure that funds are available to a customer as required.
Guarantees and standby letters of credit carry the same credit risk as loans. Documentary and commercial
letters of credit – which are written undertakings by the Group on behalf of a customer authorising a third
party to draw drafts on the Group up to a stipulated amount under specific terms and conditions – are
collateralised by the underlying shipments of goods to which they relate and therefore carry less risk than
a direct loan.
Commitments to extend credit represent unused portions of authorisations to extend credit in the form of
loans, guarantees or letters of credit. With respect to credit risk on commitments to extend credit, the
Group is potentially exposed to loss in an amount equal to the total unused commitments, as most
commitments to extend credit are contingent upon customers maintaining specific credit standards (often
referred to as financial covenants).
The Group monitors the term to maturity of credit commitments because longer-term commitments
generally have a greater degree of credit risk than shorter-term commitments.

(13)
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Financial risk management … continued

3.1.3 Impairment and provisioning policies
The internal rating systems described in Note 3.1.1 focus more on credit quality mapping from the inception
of the lending and investment activities. In contrast, impairment provisions are recognised for financial
reporting purposes only for losses that have been incurred at the balance sheet date based on the objective
evidence of impairment.
The impairment provision shown in the balance sheet at year end is derived from each of the five rating
grades. However, the majority of the impairment provision comes from the doubtful and loss grades. The
table below shows the percentage of the Group’s on- and off- balance sheet items relating to loans and
advances and the associated impairment provision for each of the Group’s internal rating categories:

Group's rating

Credit risk
exposure
(%)

2010
Impairment
allowance
(%)

Credit risk
exposure
(%)

2009
Impairment
allowance
(%)

Pass
Special mention
Sub standard
Doubtful
Loss

37
44
16
1
2

6
8
33
19
34

33
45
19
2
1

7
10
41
30
12

100

100

100

100

Total

The mortgage subsidiary company has had, on average, 85% of its loan portfolio at a pass rating for the
financial years ended September 30, 2010 and 2009.
The internal rating tool assists management to determine whether objective evidence of impairment exists
under IAS 39, based on the following criteria set out by the Group:







Delinquency in contractual payments of principal or interest
Cash flow difficulties experienced by the borrower (eg. Equity ratio, net income percentage of sales)
Breach of loan covenants or conditions
Initiation of bankruptcy proceedings
Deterioration of the borrower’s competitive position
Deterioration in the value of collateral

The Group’s policy requires the review of individual financial assets that are above materiality thresholds at
least annually or more regularly when individual circumstances require. Impairment allowances on
individually assessed accounts are determined by an evaluation of the incurred loss at the balance sheet date
on a case by case basis, and are applied to all individually significant accounts. The assessment normally
encompasses collateral held (including re-confirmation of its enforceability) and the anticipated receipts for
that individual account.

(14)
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Financial risk management … continued

3.1.4 Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit enhancements:
Maximum exposure

Credit risk exposures relating to on-balance sheet assets
Due from other banks
Treasury bills
Loans and advances
Loans and advances to individuals:
Overdrafts
Term loans
Mortgages
Loans and advances to corporate entities
Investment securities
Loans and receivables – debt securities
Other assets

Credit risk exposures relating to off-balance sheet assets
Financial guarantees
Loan commitments and other credit related obligations

At September 30

2010
$

2009
$

89,491,261
17,382,971

71,956,396
7,771,312

2,693,149
51,973,074
166,824,936

6,265,787
53,905,763
169,433,048

344,317,153

319,256,648

50,372,394
7,971,943

54,257,479
5,081,490

731,026,881

687,927,923

7,501,457
27,075,265

6,070,795
35,470,435

34,576,722

41,541,230

765,603,603

729,469,153

The above table represents a worse-case scenario of credit risk exposure to the Bank at September 30, 2010
and 2009, without taking account of any collateral held or other credit enhancements attached. For on-balance
sheet assets, the exposures set out above are based on net carrying amounts as reported in the consolidated
balance sheet.
As shown above, 74% of the total maximum exposure is derived from loans and advances to customers (2009:
72%); 7% represents investments in debt securities (2009: 7%).

(15)
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Financial risk management … continued

3.1.4 Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit enhancements … continued
Management is confident in its ability to continue to control and sustain minimal exposure of credit risk to the
Bank resulting from both its loan and advances portfolio and debt securities based on the following:


81% of the loans and advances portfolio is categorised in the top two grades of the internal rating system
(2009: 78%);



Mortgage loans, which represents the biggest group in the portfolio, are backed by collateral;



52% of loans and advances portfolio are considered to be neither past due nor impaired (2009: 65%); and



The Group introduced a more stringent selection process for granting loans and advances.

3.1.5 Loans and advances
Loans and advances are summarised as follows:
2010

2009
Loans and
advances to
customers
$

Neither past due nor impaired
Past due but not impaired
Individually impaired

Loans and
advances to
customers
$
294,896,640
249,958,954
26,708,475

361,417,102
158,956,492
37,544,207

Gross

571,564,069

557,917,801

Less: allowance for impairment
Net
Individually impaired
Portfolio allowance

(18,432,816)

(22,363,740)

553,131,253

535,554,061

16,245,174
2,187,642

20,340,404
2,023,336

18,432,816

22,363,740

The total impairment provision for loans and advances is $18,432,816 (2009: $22,363,740) of which
$16,245,174 (2009: $20,340,404) represents the individually impaired loans and the remaining amount of
$2,187,642 (2009: $2,023,336) represents the portfolio allowance. Further information about the impairment
allowance for loans and advances to banks and to customers is provided in note 9.

(16)
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Financial risk management … continued

3.1.5 Loans and advances … continued
(a) Loans and advances neither past due nor impaired
The credit quality of the portfolio of loans and advances that were neither past due nor impaired can be
assessed by reference to the internal rating system adopted by the Group.
Loans and advances to customers
Individual (retail customers)

Corporate entities
Large
Total loans
corporate
and advances
customers
SMEs to customers
$
$
$

Overdrafts
$

Term
Loans Mortgages
$
$

42,696,113
489,400

33,535,661 119,863,913
248,917
–

76,847,786
8,619,050

5,378,817
7,216,983

278,322,290
16,574,350

43,185,513

33,784,578 119,863,913

85,466,836

12,595,800

294,896,640

10,673,158
22,673,392

32,903,287 138,672,291
1,639,047
649,018

60,977,789
85,952,586

6,519,752
756,782

249,746,277
111,670,825

33,346,550

34,542,334 139,321,309

146,930,375

7,276,534

361,417,102

September 30, 2010
Grades
Standard monitoring
Special monitoring

September 30, 2009
Grades
Standard monitoring
Special monitoring

(17)
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Total

Past due up to 30 days
Past due 31 – 60 days
Past due 61 – 90 days
Past due 90 days and over

As of September 30, 2009:

Total

Past due up to 30 days
Past due 31 – 60 days
Past due 61 – 90 days
Past due 90 days and over

As of September 30, 2010:

19,925,481

8,226,309
3,583,967
3,296,624
4,818,581

Term loans
$

53,519,009

5,109,734
22,826,513
24,024,180
1,558,582

Mortgages
$

3,212,606

–
–
–
3,212,606

Overdrafts
$

13,528,249

4,597,589
4,363,293
2,005,961
2,561,406

Term loans
$

41,637,872

11,430,357
9,126,414
14,932,519
6,148,582

Mortgages
$

Individual (retail customers)

4,362,607

–
–
–
4,362,607

Overdrafts
$

Individual (retail customers)

90,229,947

40,167,054
7,075,114
18,794,519
24,193,260

Large
corporate
customers
$

150,506,028

28,413,427
15,290,946
83,887,138
22,914,517

Large
corporate
customers
$

9,462,646

1,702,298
756,797
4,273,235
2,730,316

SMEs
$

Other
$

885,172

41,529
–
–
843,643

Other
$

5,906,195

145,668
–
4,916,684
843,843

Corporate entities

15,739,634

3,043,841
1,710,294
9,188,106
1,797,393

SMEs
$

Corporate entities

(18)

158,956,492

57,938,827
21,321,618
40,006,234
39,689,813

Total
$

249,958,954

44,938,979
43,411,720
125,312,732
36,295,523

Total
$

Late processing and other administrative delays on the side of the borrower can lead to a financial asset being past due but not impaired. Therefore, loans and
advances less than 90 days past due are not usually considered impaired, unless other information is available to indicate the contrary. The gross amounts of
loans and advances by class to customers that were past due but not impaired were as follows:

(b) Loans and advances past due but not impaired

3.1.5 Loans and advances … continued
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1,294,260
71,221
1,376,251
153,212

5,277,573

2,963,378

7,849,468

2,718,684

Fair value of collateral

September 30, 2009
Individually impaired

Fair value of collateral

726,402

2,933,386

–

–

Credit
Card Term loans
$
$

September 30, 2010
Individually impaired

Overdrafts
$

Individual (retail customers)

279,393

556,970

1,390,078

2,644,795

Mortgages
$

12,544,306

23,794,939

5,274,784

12,257,834

788,221

1,033,193

792,258

5,234,013

Corporate entities
Large
Corporate
customers
SMEs
$
$

17,210,218

37,544,207

10,491,719

26,708,475

Total
$

(19)

The breakdown of the gross amount of individually impaired loans and advances by class, along with the fair value of related collateral held by the Bank as
security, are as follows:

The individually impaired loans and advances to customers before taking into consideration the cash flows from collateral held is $26,708,475 (2009:
$37,544,207).

Upon initial recognition of loans and advances, the fair value of collateral is based on valuation techniques commonly used for the corresponding assets. In
subsequent periods, the fair value is assessed by reference to market price or indices of similar assets.

(c) Loans and advances individually impaired

3.1.5 Loans and advances … continued
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Financial risk management … continued

3.1.5 Loans and advances … continued
(d) Loans and advances renegotiated
Restructuring activities include extended payment arrangements, approved external management plans,
modification and deferral of payments. Following restructuring, a previously overdue account is reset to a
normal status and managed together with other similar accounts. Restructuring policies and practices are
based on indicators or criteria which, in the judgement of management, indicate that payment will most
likely continue. These policies are kept under continuous review. Restructuring is not commonly applied
to term loans – in particular, customer finance loans.

Renegotiated loans and advances to individuals
Renegotiated loans to corporations

2010
$

2009
$

3,662,796
4,724,074

914,100
3,937,801

8,386,870

4,851,901

3.1.6 Debt securities, treasury bills and other eligible bills
There is no formal rating of the credit quality of bonds, treasury bills and equity investments. A number of
qualitative and quantitative factors are considered in assessing the risk associated with each investment.
However, there is no hierarchy of ranking. There are no external ratings of securities at the year end. The
tables below presents an analysis of debt securities, treasury bills and other eligible bills at September 30,
2010 and 2009:
Assets pledged as
collateral
Treasury
bills
$

Available- Loans and
for-sale receivables
$
$

Total
$

At September 30, 2010
17,382,971 24,081,474 50,372,394
Unrated

91,836,839

–

4,000,000

At September 30, 2009
Unrated

92,219,195

–

4,000,000

7,771,312 30,190,404 54,257,479

Trade Investment
securities
securities
$
$

3.1.7 Repossessed collateral
The Group took no possession of collateral during the years ended September 30, 2010 and 2009.
Repossessed properties are sold as soon as practicable, with the proceeds used to reduce the outstanding
indebtedness. Repossessed property, if any, is classified in the balance sheet within other assets.

(20)
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Financial risk management … continued

3.1.8. Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk exposure
(a) Geographical concentration of assets and off balance sheet items
The Group’s exposure to credit risk is concentrated as detailed below. Antigua and Barbuda is the home
country of the Group where the predominant activity is commercial banking services.
As a major indigenous bank in Antigua and Barbuda, the Group accounts for a significant share of credit
exposure to many sectors of the economy. However, credit risk is spread over a diversity of personal and
commercial customers.
The following table analyses the Group’s main credit exposure at their carrying amounts as categorised by
geographical region.
Antigua and
Barbuda
$

Other
Caribbean
$

NonCaribbean
$

Total
$

2010
Credit risk exposures
relating to on-balance
sheet assets:
Cash and statutory
balances
Due from other banks
Treasury bills

44,156,536
80,246,963
7,471,562

26,704
469,452
9,911,409

806,887
8,774,846
–

44,990,127
89,491,261
17,382,971

Loans and receivables
– Debt securities
Loans and advances
Other assets

44,989,098
557,687,596
7,971,943

5,113,116
3,864,453
–

270,180
4,256,263
–

50,372,394
565,808,312
7,971,943

742,523,698

19,385,134

14,108,176

776,017,008

34,576,722

–

–

34,576,722

777,100,420

19,385,134

14,108,176

810,593,730

Credit exposures relating
to off balance sheet
assets:
Loan commitments and
other credit related
facilities
As at September 30,
2010

(21)
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Financial risk management … continued

3.1.8. Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk exposure…continued
(a) Geographical concentration of assets and off balance sheet items … continued
Antigua and
Barbuda
$

Other
Caribbean
$

NonCaribbean
$

Total
$

2009
Credit risk exposures
relating to on-balance
sheet assets:
Cash and statutory
balances
Due from other banks
Treasury bills

40,878,158
58,405,081
7,527,562

20,345
2,215,479
243,750

206,463
11,335,836
–

41,104,966
71,956,396
7,771,312

Loans and receivables
– Debt securities
Loans and advances
Other assets

49,510,100
540,023,937
5,081,490

4,747,379
5,251,996
–

–
3,585,313
–

54,257,479
548,861,246
5,081,490

701,426,328

12,478,949

15,127,612

729,032,889

41,541,230

–

–

41,541,230

742,967,558

12,478,949

15,127,612

770,574,119

Credit exposures relating
to off balance sheet
assets:
Loan commitments and
other credit related
facilities
As at September 30,
2009

(22)
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7,809

134,539

As at September 30, 2010

–
–

–
–

Investment securities:
- Loans and receivables – debt securities
- Other assets

7,809

58

Loans to corporate entities:
- Large corporate customers

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

44,990
89,491
–

Loans and advances to customers:
Loans to individuals:
- Overdrafts
- Term loans
- Mortgages

Cash and balances with the Central Bank
Due from other banks
Treasury bills

Tourism
$’000

Financial
institutions
$’000

54,675

–
–

54,675

–
–
–

–
–
–

Real
estate
$’000

80,761

–
–

80,761

–
–
–

–
–
–

Wholesale
and retail
trade
$’000

206,387

50,372
7,889

111,249

–
–
19,494

–
–
17,383

Public
sector
$’000

112,820

–
–

89,764

–
–
23,056

–
–
–

Other
industries
$’000

178,942

–
–

–

2,693
51,973
124,276

–
–
–

Individuals
$’000

(23)

The following table breaks down the Group’s credit exposure at carrying amounts (without taking into account any collateral held or other credit
support), as categorised by the industry sectors of the Group’s counterparties.

(b) Industry risk concentration of assets and off balance sheet items

3.1.8. Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk exposure…continued

3

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

September 30, 2010

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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775,933

50,372
7,889

344,316

2,693
51,973
166,826

44,990
89,491
17,383

Total
$’000
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As at September 30, 2009

Investment securities:
- Loans and receivables – debt securities

Loans to corporate entities:
- Large corporate customers

Loans and advances to customers:
Loans to individuals:
- Overdrafts
- Term loans
- Mortgages

Cash and balances with the Central Bank
Due from other banks
Treasury bills

113,238

–

176

6,940

–

6,940

–
–
–

–
–
–

41,105
71,957
–

–
–
–

Tourism
$’000

Financial
institutions
$’000

(b) Industry risk concentration of assets and off balance sheet items … continued

41,786

–

41,786

–
–
–

–
–
–

Real
estate
$’000

3.1.8. Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk exposure…continued

3

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

September 30, 2010
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75,585

–

75,585

–
–
–

–
–
–

Wholesale
and retail
trade
$’000

171,450

37,565

111,123

–
–
14,991

–
–
7,771

Public
sector
$’000

115,059

–

83,647

–
–
31,412

–
–
–

Other
industries
$’000

183,201

–

–

6,265
53,906
123,030

–
–
–

Individuals
$’000

(24)

707,259

37,565

319,257

6,265
53,906
169,433

41,105
71,957
7,771

Total
$’000

SOLUTIONS
Antigua commercial bank annual report 2010

61

62

Financial risk management … continued

3,632
–

–

–

As at September 30, 2009

–

3,632

Financial guarantees
Loan commitments and other credit
related obligations

13,583

13,583

–
5,117

–

5,117

Tourism
$’000

As at September 30, 2010

Financial guarantees
Loan commitments and other credit
related obligations

Financial
institutions
$’000

–

–

–

–

–

–

Real
estate
$’000

(b) Industry risk concentration of assets and off balance sheet items … continued

3.1.8. Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk exposure…continued

3

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

September 30, 2010
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5,745

5,609

136

81

–

81

Wholesale
and retail
trade
$’000

9,611

9,611

–

1,312

1,312

–

Public
sector
$’000

18,680

16,377

2,303

8,558

6,255

2,303

3,874

3,874

–

5,925

5,925

–

Other
industries Individuals
$’000
$’000

(25)

41,542

35,471

6,071

34,576

27,075

7,501

Total
$’000
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Financial risk management … continued

3.2.1 Market risk
The Group takes on exposure to market risk, which is the risk that the fair value of cash flows of a financial
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risk arises from open positions in
interest rate, currency and equity products, all of which are exposed to general and specific market movements
and changes in the level of volatility of market rates or prices such as interest rates, credit spreads, foreign
exchange rates and equity prices.
Non trading portfolios primarily arise from the interest rate management of the entity’s retail and commercial
banking assets and liabilities. Non trading portfolios also consist of foreign exchange and risks associated with
the change in equity prices arising from the Group’s available-for-sale investment securities.
3.2.2 Price risk
Though the Group’s investment portfolio includes securities that are quoted on the Eastern Caribbean
Securities Exchange, its exposure to securities price risk is minimal because the total of these securities is
insignificant in relation to its balance sheet, and because of limited volatility in this market. The Group does
not hold securities that are quoted on the world’s major securities markets. The Group is not exposed to
commodity price risk.
If market prices at September 30, 2010 had been 5% higher/lower with all variables held constant, the impact
on equity would not have been significant.
3.2.3 Interest rate risk
The Group advances loans and receives deposits as a part of its normal course of business from both related
and third parties. The interest rates on loans generally reflect interest based on market rates. Investment
securities and customer deposits generally attract fixed interest rates. The Group mitigates its interest rate risk
by matching the maturity periods of its assets and liabilities. The following table below analyses the effective
interest rates of each class of financial asset and financial liability:

Loans and advances
Demand loans
Discount loans
Mortgage loans
Advances and overdrafts
Other
Investment securities
Government treasury bills
Other securities

2010

2009

8-13%
11-22%
8-12%
8-12%
19.5%

8-13%
11-22%
8-12%
8-12%
19.5%

7.0%
6.5%

7.0%
6.5%

(26)
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Financial risk management … continued

3.2.3 Interest rate risk…continued

Deposits due to customers
Demand deposits
Savings deposits
Time deposits
Other – thrift, pension
Debenture stock

2010

2009

3.0%
3.0% - 3.5%
4.8%
6.0% - 6.5%
6.5%

3.0%
3.0% - 3.5%
4.8%
6.0% - 6.5%
6.5%

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because
of changes in market interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of the financial
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Group takes on exposure to the
effects of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest rates on both its fair value and cash flow risks.
Interest margins may increase as a result of such changes but may reduce losses in the event that unexpected
movements arise.
The table below summarises the Group’s exposure to interest rate risks. It includes the Group’s financial
instruments at carrying amounts categorised by the earlier of contractual re-pricing or maturity dates.

(27)
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–
726,623
–

–
75,055,679
–

162,580,073

Total financial assets

(254,593,626)

Total interest repricing gap

–
–

–
–

(25,872,132)

47,990,755

–

–

417,173,699

47,990,755

417,173,699

Total financial liabilities

Liabilities
Deposits due to customers
Other liabilities and accrued
expenses
Due under repurchase
agreements
Long-term debenture liabilities

–

3,604,597

22,118,623

–
21,392,000
–

40,727,183
25,809,643
17,382,971

3 - 6 months
$

Assets
Cash and statutory balances
Due from other banks
Treasury bills
Investment securities:
– Loans and receivable – debt
securities
– Loans and receivable –
equity securities
Loans and advances
Other assets

As at September 30, 2010

0 - 3 months
$

Financial risk management … continued

3.2.3 Interest rate risk … continued

3

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

September 30, 2010

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Antigua Commercial Bank Limited

(10,235,916)

75,928,597

1,568,670
–

–

74,359,927

65,692,681

–
23,748,382
–

–

–
41,944,299
–

6 months – 1
year
$

(19,492,324)

62,120,923

–
5,000,000

–

57,120,923

42,628,599

–
38,562,964
–

4,065,635

–
–
–

1 - 3 years
$

(23,953,384)

82,942,442

–
28,205,000

–

54,737,442

58,989,058

–
56,046,258
–

2,942,800

–
–
–

3 - 5 years
$

411,427,768

–

–
–

–

–

411,427,768

–
371,668,406
–

39,759,362

–
–
–

Over 6 years
$

7,767,070

–
–

7,767,070

–

36,661,679

24,081,473
–
7,971,943

–

4,262,944
345,319
–

Non-interest
bearing
$

(28)

693,923,486

1,568,670
33,205,000

7,767,070

651,382,746

800,098,481

24,081,473
565,808,312
7,971,943

50,372,394

44,990,127
89,491,261
17,382,971

Total
$
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140,993,832

Total financial assets

(276,373,516)

Total interest repricing gap

–
9,180,000

–
4,930,000

(39,056,632)

52,400,807

–

–

417,367,348

43,220,807

412,437,348

Total financial liabilities

Liabilities
Deposits due to customers
Other liabilities and accrued
expenses
Due under repurchase
agreements
Long-term debenture liabilities

1,000,000
5,644,175
–

5,221,910
101,144,894
–
13,344,175

–
6,700,000
–

–
26,855,716
7,771,312

3 - 6 months
$

Assets
Cash and statutory balances
Due from other banks
Treasury bills
Investment securities:
– Loans and receivable – debt
securities
Loans and advances
Other assets

As at September 30, 2009

0 - 3 months
$

Financial risk management … continued

3.2.3 Interest rate risk … continued

3

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

September 30, 2010
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Antigua Commercial Bank Limited

(246,235)

57,155,031

1,779,263
–

–

55,375,768

56,908,796

1,200,000
17,501,643
–

–
38,207,153
–

6 months – 1
year
$

(29,284,916)

68,646,182

–
5,000,000

–

63,646,182

39,361,266

2,500,000
36,861,266
–

–
–
–

1 - 3 years
$

670,012

62,526,146

–
10,000,000

–

52,526,146

63,196,158

4,917,284
58,278,874
–

–
–
–

3 - 5 years
$

368,848,679

–

–
–

–

–

368,848,679

39,418,285
329,430,394
–

–
–
–

Over 6 years
$

9,264,577

–
–

9,264,577

–

46,379,983

–
–
5,081,490

41,104,966
193,527
–

Non-interest
bearing
$

(29)

667,360,091

1,779,263
29,110,000

9,264,577

627,206,251

729,032,889

54,257,479
548,861,246
5,081,490

41,104,966
71,956,396
7,771,312

Total
$
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–
2,882,769
–
–

24,081,473
47,489,625
565,808,312
7,971,943
787,550,089
624,010,150
7,767,070
1,568,670
33,205,000
666,550,890
120,999,199

Total financial assets

Liabilities
Customer deposits
Other liabilities and accrued expenses
Due under repurchase agreements
Long-term debenture liabilities

Total financial liabilities

Net on-balance sheet position

(17,027,728)

27,372,596

27,372,596
–
–
–

10,344,868

671,234
6,790,865
–

44,156,536
80,659,229
17,382,971

USD
$

Assets
Cash and balances with the Central Bank
Deposits with banks
Treasury bills
Investment securities:
Available-for –sale – equity securities
Loans and receivables – debt securities
Loans and advances
Other assets

As at September 30, 2010

XCD
$

242,548

–

–
–
–
–

242,548

–
–
–
–

34,483
208,065
–

EUR
$

239,661

–

–
–
–
–

239,661

–
–
–
–

88,796
150,865
–

GBP
$

1,721,315

–

–
–
–
–

1,721,315

–
–
–
–

39,078
1,682,237
–

Others
$

(30)

106,174,995

693,923,486

651,382,746
7,767,070
1,568,670
33,205,000

800,098,481

24,081,473
50,372,394
565,808,312
7,971,943

44,990,127
89,491,261
17,382,971

Total
$

The exchange rate of the Eastern Caribbean dollar (EC$) to the United States dollar (US$) has been formally pegged at EC$2.7 =US$1.00 since 1974. The
table below summarises the Group’s exposure to foreign currency exchange risk at September 30, 2010. Included in the table are the Group’s financial
instruments at carrying amounts, categorised by currency. Because all equity and debt investments are denominated either in United States dollars or in
Eastern Caribbean dollars, to which the US dollar is pegged, there would have been no impact or equity, if at September 30, 2010 the EC dollar had
weakened against other currencies.

The Group takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing foreign currency exchange rates on its financial position and cash flows.
Substantially all of the Group’s transactions and assets and liabilities are denominated in Eastern Caribbean dollars or United States dollars. Therefore, the
Group has no significant exposure to currency risk.

3.2.4
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(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)
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Foreign exchange risk… continued

–
3,478,350
1,683
–

30,190,403
50,779,129
548,859,563
5,081,490
746,808,788
589,912,395
9,264,577
1,779,263
29,110,000
630,066,235
116,742,553

Total financial assets

Liabilities
Customer deposits
Other liabilities and accrued expenses
Due under repurchase agreements
Long-term debenture liabilities

Total financial liabilities

Net on-balance sheet position

(26,162,314)

37,293,856

37,293,856
–
–
–

11,131,542

255,833
7,395,676
–

USD
$

40,622,325
63,504,566
7,771,312

XCD
$

Assets
Cash and balances with the Central Bank
Deposits with banks
Treasury bills
Investment securities:
Available-for –sale – equity securities
Loans and receivables – debt securities
Loans and advances
Other assets

As at September 30, 2009

3.2.4
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(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

September 30, 2010
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1,127,264

–

–
–
–
–

1,127,264

–
–
–
–

55,587
1,071,677
–

EUR
$

(1,173)

–

–
–
–
–

(1,173)

–
–
–
–

90,206
(91,379)
–

GBP
$

156,871

–

–
–
–
–

156,871

–
–
–
–

81,015
75,856
–

Others
$

(31)

91,863,201

667,360,091

627,206,251
9,264,577
1,779,263
29,110,000

759,223,292

30,190,403
54,257,479
548,861,246
5,081,490

41,104,966
71,956,396
7,771,312

Total
$
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Financial risk management … continued

3.3 Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is unable to meet its obligations associated with its financial liabilities
when they fall due as a result of customer deposits being withdrawn, cash requirements from contractual
commitments, or other cash outflows, such as debt maturities or margin calls for derivatives. Such outflows
would deplete available cash resources for client lending, trading activities and investments. In extreme
circumstances, lack of liquidity could result in reductions in the statement of financial position and sales of
assets, or potentially an inability to fulfil lending commitments. The risk that the Group will be unable to do so
is inherent in all banking operations and can be affected by a range of institution-specific and market-wide
events including, but not limited to, credit events, merger and acquisition activity, systemic shocks and natural
disasters.
The Group is exposed to daily calls on its available cash resources from overnight deposits, current accounts
and maturing deposits. Management sets limits on the minimum proportion of maturing funds available to meet
such calls and on the minimum level of inter-bank and other borrowing facilities that should be in place to
cover withdrawals at unexpected levels of demand.
The maturities of assets and liabilities and the ability to replace, at an acceptable cost, interest-bearing liabilities
as they mature are important factors in assessing the liquidity of the Group and its exposure to changes in
interest rates and exchange rates.
Liquidity risk management process
The Group’s liquidity management processes are carried out by the Group’s senior management and monitored
by the finance team including:


Day-to-day funding, managed by monitoring future cash flows to ensure that requirements can be met.
This includes replenishment of funds as they mature or are borrowed by customers. The Group maintains
an active presence in regional markets to enable this to happen;



Maintaining the liquidity ratios of the statement of financial position against internal and regulatory
requirements;



Monitoring the liquidity ratios of the statement of financial position against internal and regulatory
requirements; and



Managing the concentration and profile of debt maturities.

Monitoring and reporting take the form of cash flow measurement and projections for the next day, week and
month respectively; as these are key periods for liquidity management. The starting point for those projections
is an analysis of the contractual maturity of the financial liabilities and the expected collection date of the
financial assets.
Funding approach
Sources of liquidity are regularly reviewed by management and the Board of Directors in order to maintain a
wide diversification by currency, geography, provider, product and term.

(32)
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Financial risk management … continued

3.3 Liquidity risk…continued
Assets held for management of liquidity risk
The Group's assets held for managing liquidity risk comprise:






Cash and balanes with other banks;
Loans and advances;
Certificates of deposit;
Treasury and other eligible bills; and
Government bonds and other securities that are readily acceptable in repurchase agreements with central
banks.

In the normal course of business, a proportion of customers' loans contractually repayable in one year will be
extended. In addition, debt securities and treasury and other eligible bills can be pledged to secure liabilities.
The Group would also be able to meet unexpected net cash requirements by selling securities. The Group can
also access alternative funds for short-term borrowing needs via the Inter-bank market, lines of credit with
international banks and repurchase agreements

(33)
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Total liabilities (contractual maturity dates)
Assets held for managing liquidity risk (contractual
maturity dates)

Liabilities
Deposits due to customers
Other liabilities and accrued expenses
Due under repurchase agreements
Long-term debenture liabilities

50,634,339
13,344,175

172,347,965

41,004,339
–
–
9,630,000

482,554,371

471,003,875
6,620,496
–
4,930,000

122,850,198

Assets held for managing liquidity risk (contractual
maturity dates)

As at September 30, 2009

45,062,953

478,523,297

Total liabilities (contractual maturity dates)
28,550,778

45,062,953
–
–
–

472,705,796
5,817,501
–
–

Liabilities
Deposits due to customers
Other liabilities and accrued expenses
Due under repurchase agreements
Long-term debenture liabilities

56,908,796

56,367,642

53,336,163
1,158,805
1,872,674
–

69,709,965

78,693,141

76,517,172
528,866
1,647,103
–

324,081,326

92,190,676

74,505,400
1,485,276
–
16,200,000

654,844,326

110,822,041

68,546,510
1,420,703
–
40,854,828

(34)

566,682,262

681,747,028

639,849,777
9,264,577
1,872,674
30,760,000

875,955,267

713,101,432

662,832,431
7,767,070
1,647,103
40,854,828

The table below presents the cash flows payable by and payable to the Group with respect to non-derivative financial liabilities and assets held for managing
liquidity risk by remaining contractual maturities at the date of the balance sheet date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted
cash flows, whereas the Group manages liquidity risk based on a different basis (see Liquidity risk management process), not resulting in a significantly
different analysis.
6 – 12
months
1 – 5 years
Total
0 – 3 months
3 – 6 months
$
$
$
$
$
As at September 30, 2010

Non-derivative financial liabilities and assets held for managing liquidity risk

3.3 Liquidity risk…continued

3

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)
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Financial risk management … continued

3.4.1 Fair value
Fair value is the arm’s length consideration for which an asset could be exchanged or a liability settled
between knowledgeable, willing parties, who are under no compulsion to act as and is best evidenced by a
quoted market price, if one exists.
The table below summarises the carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial assets and
liabilities:
Carrying value
2010
2009
$
$
Financial assets
Treasury bills
Due from other banks
Loans and advances
Investment securities
Other assets

Financial liabilities
Customers’ deposits
Long-term debentures
Other liabilities and accrued expenses
Due under repurchase agreements

2010
$

Fair value
2009
$

17,382,971
89,491,261
565,808,312
74,453,867
7,971,943

7,771,312
71,956,396
548,861,246
84,447,883
6,955,465

17,382,971
89,491,261
565,808,312
74,453,867
7,971,943

7,771,312
71,956,396
548,861,246
84,447,883
6,955,465

755,108,354

719,992,302

755,108,354

719,992,302

651,382,746
33,205,000
7,767,070
1,568,670

627,206,251
29,110,000
9,264,577
1,779,263

651,382,746
33,205,000
7,767,070
1,568,670

627,206,251
29,110,000
9,264,577
1,779,263

693,923,486

667,360,091

693,923,486

667,360,091

The following methods and assumptions have been used to estimate the fair value of each class of financial
instruments for which it is practical to estimate a value:


Short-term financial assets and liabilities
The carrying value of these assets and liabilities is a reasonable estimate of their fair value because of the
short maturity of these instruments. Short-term financial assets are comprised of cash resources and short
term investments, fixed deposits, interest receivable, and other assets. Short-term financial liabilities are
comprised of demand deposits, interest payable and certain other liabilities.



Loans and advances to customers.
Loans and advances are net of allowance for impairment. The estimated fair value of loans and advances
represents the discounted amount of estimated future cash flows expected to be received. Expected cash
flows are discounted at current market rates to determine fair value. Except for the staff loans, the interest
rates on all other loans reflect the market rates, hence the carrying values are considered to approximate the
fair values.
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Financial risk management … continued

3.4.1 Fair value…continued
 Deposits from banks and due to customers
The estimated fair value of deposits with no stated maturity, which include non-interest-bearing deposits, is
the amount repayable on demand.
The estimated fair value of fixed interest-bearing deposits not quoted in an active market is based on
discounted cash flows using interest rates for new debts with similar remaining maturity. The interest rates
on the financial liabilities reflect the market interest rates, hence the carrying values are considered to
approximate the fair values.
 Investment securities
The fair value for loans and receivables and held-to-maturity assets are based on market prices or
broker/dealer price quotations. Where this information is not available, fair value is estimated using quoted
market prices for securities with similar credit, maturity and yield characteristics.
Investment securities (available for sale) disclosed in the table above comprise only those equity securities
held at cost less impairment. The fair value for these assets is based on estimations using market prices and
earning multiples of quoted securities with similar characteristics. All other available for sale assets are
already measured and carried at fair value, less impairment, if any.
 Off-balance sheet financial instruments
The estimated fair values of the off-balance sheet financial instruments are based on markets prices for
similar facilities. When this information is not available, fair value is estimated using discounted cash flow
analysis.
3.4.2 Fair value hierarchy
IFRS 7 specifies a hierarchy of valuation techniques based on whether the inputs to those valuation techniques
are observable or unobservable. Observable inputs reflects market data obtained from independent sources;
unobservable inputs reflect the Group's market assumptions. These two types of inputs have created the
following fair value hierarchy:


Level 1 – Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. This level includes listed debt
instruments listed on exchanges.



Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liabilities, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices).



Level 3 – Inputs for the assets or liabilities that are not based on observable market data (unobservable
inputs). This level includes equity investments and debt instruments with significant unobservable
components.

(36)
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Financial risk management … continued

3.4.2 Fair value hierarchy…continued
The hierarchy requires the use of observable market data when available. The Group considers relevant and
observable market prices in its valuations where possible.
Level 2
$

Level 3
$

Total
$

Investment securities
- Available-for-sale investments – unquoted
- Available-for-sale investments - quoted

–
18,108,172

5,973,300
–

5,973,300
18,108,172

Total assets

18,108,172

5,973,300

24,081,472

Level 2
$

Level 3
$

Total
$

Investment securities
- Available-for-sale investments – unquoted
- Available-for-sale investments - quoted

–
19,527,502

10,662,901
–

10,662,901
19,527,502

Total assets

19,527,502

10,662,901

30,190,403

As at September 30, 2010
Financial assets

As at September 30, 2009
Financial assets

3.5

Financial assets and liabilities by category
The table below analyses the Group's financial assets and liabilities by category:
Loans and
receivables
$

Availablefor-sale
$

Total
$

Assets
Due from banks and other financial institutions
Investment securities
Loans and advances
Other financial assets

156,711,705
66,220,000
553,393,812
7,971,943

–
24,081,472
–
–

156,711,705
90,301,472
553,393,812
7,971,943

Total financial assets

784,297,460

24,081,472

808,378,932

As at September 30, 2010

(37)
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Financial risk management … continued

3.5 Financial assets and liabilities by category…continued

Liabilities
Customer deposits
Other liabilities and
accrued expenses
Total financial
liabilities

Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost
$

Total
$

674,085,161

674,085,161

3,366,052

3,366,052

677,451,213

677,451,213

The table below analyses the Group's financial assets and liabilities by category:
Loans and
receivables
$

Availablefor-sale
$

Total
$

Assets
Due from banks and other financial
institutions
Investment securities
Loans and advances
Other financial assets

134,334,664
60,950,293
535,554,061
6,215,806

–
30,190,403
–
–

134,334,664
91,140,696
535,554,061
6,215,806

Total financial assets

737,054,824

30,190,403

767,245,227

Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost
$

Total
$

Liabilities
Customer deposits
Other liabilities and accrued expenses
Repurchase agreements
Long-term debenture liabilities

649,570,184
3,761,499
1,779,263
29,110,000

649,570,184
3,761,499
1,779,263
29,110,000

Total financial liabilities

684,220,946

684,220,946

As at September 30, 2009
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Financial risk management … continued

3.6 Capital management
The Group’s objectives when managing capital, which is a broader concept than the ‘equity’ on the face of the
statement of financial position, are:


To comply with the capital requirements set by the regulators of the Eastern Caribbean Central Bank;



To safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue to provide returns
for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders; and



To maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business.

Capital adequacy and the use of regulatory capital are monitored quarterly by the Group’s management,
employing techniques based on the guidelines developed by the Basel Committee and as implemented by the
Group’s management for supervisory purposes. The required information is filed with the Eastern Caribbean
Central Bank (ECCB) quarterly for the commercial bank.
The regulatory capital requirements are strictly observed when managing economic capital. The Group’s
regulatory capital is managed by senior management and comprises two tiers:


Tier 1 capital: share capital (net of any book values of the treasury shares), general bank reserve, statutory
reserve, non-controlling interests arising on consolidation from interests in permanent shareholders’
equity, retained earnings and reserves created by appropriations of retained earnings. The book value of
goodwill (if applicable) is deducted in arriving at Tier 1 capital; and



Tier 2 capital: qualifying subordinated loan capital, collective impairment allowances and unrealised gains
arising on the fair valuation of equity instruments held as available for sale.

Investments in associates are deducted from Tier 1 and Tier 2 capital to arrive at the regulatory capital.

(39)
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Financial risk management … continued

3.6 Capital management … continued
The table below summarises the composition of regulatory capital and the ratios of the Bank for the years
ended September 30, 2010 and 2009. During those two years, the Bank complied with all of the externally
imposed capital requirements to which they are subject.
2010
$

2009
$

5,000,000
10,000,000
40,610,183
45,579,738

5,000,000
10,000,000
40,140,609
34,716,753

101,189,921

89,857,362

Revaluation reserve-available-for-sale investments
Reserves for losses on assets

10,180,474
18,208,550

11,137,573
16,560,739

Total qualifying Tier 2 capital

28,389,024

27,698,312

–

–

Total regulatory capital

129,578,945

117,555,674

Risk-weighted assets:
On-balance sheet
Off-balance sheet

682,688,000
27,075,000

670,180,000
41,541,000

Total risk-weighted assets

709,763,000

711,721,000

18.3%

16.5%

Tier 1 capital
Share capital (net of the treasury shares)
Share premium
General banking reserves
Retained earnings
Total qualifying Tier 1 capital
Tier 2 capital

Less investments in associates

Basel ratio

Capital adequacy and the use of regulatory capital for the mortgage company are managed based on the
following.
The Financial Institutions (Non-Banking) Act requires a reserve fund into which no less than ten per cent of the
net profit of the institution after deduction of taxes shall be transferred each year until the amount standing to
the credit of the reserve fund is equal at least to the paid up capital of that institution. There are no further
capital and reserve requirements by the regulators and no external monitoring of the capital base is conducted.
The Company was compliant with these requirements as at September 30, 2010 and September 30, 2009.
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.
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Financial risk management … continued

3.7 Off-balance sheet items
(i) Loan commitments, financial guarantees and other financial facilities
The contractual amounts of the Group’s off-balance sheet financial instruments that it commits to extend
to customers and other facilities are summarised in note 29.
(ii) Operating lease commitments
Where the Group is the lessee, the future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases, are disclosed in note 29.
(iii) Capital commitments
There were no capital commitments for the acquisition of buildings and equipment at the financial year
end.
4

Critical accounting estimates and judgements
The Group's financial statements and its financial result are influenced by accounting policies, assumptions,
estimates and management judgement, which necessarily have to be made in the course of preparation of the
financial statements.
Accounting policies and management's judgements for certain items are especially critical for the Group's
results and financial situation due to their materality.
(a) Impairment losses on loans and advances
The Group reviews its loan portfolios to assess impairment on a quarterly basis. In determining whether an
impairment loss should be recorded in the income statement, the Group makes judgements as to whether
there is any observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows
from a portfolio of loans before the decrease can be identified with an individual loan in that portfolio. This
evidence may include observable data indicating that there has been an adverse change in the payment
status of borrowers in a group, or national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on
assets in the group. Management uses estimates based on historical loss experience for assets with credit
risk characteristics and objective evidence of impairment similar to those in the portfolio when scheduling
its future cash flows. The methodology and assumptions used for estimating both the amount and timing of
future cash flows are reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss
experience.
To the extent that the net present value of estimated cash flows differs by +/-10%, the provision would be
estimated $834,535 lower or $1,702,000 higher.
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Critical accounting estimates and judgements … continued
(b) Fair value of financial instruments
The fair values of financial instruments where no active market exists or where quoted prices are not
otherwise available are determined by using valuation techniques. In these cases, the fair values are
estimated from observable data in respect of similar financial instruments. Where market observable inputs
are available, they are estimated based on appropriate assumptions.
(c) Estimate of pension benefits
The present value of the pension obligation depends on a number of factors that are determined on an
actuarial basis using a number of assumptions. The assumptions used in determining the net cost (income)
for pensions include the discount rate. Any changes in these assumptions will impact the carrying amount
of pension obligations.
The Group determines the appropriate discount rate at the end of each year. This is the interest rate that
should be used to determine the present value of estimated future cash outflows expected to be required to
settle the pension obligations. In determining the appropriate discount rate, the Group considers the
interest rates of Government bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid,
and that have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the related pension liability.
Other key assumptions for pension obligations are based in part on current market conditions. Additional
information is disclosed in note 13.
(d) Estimate of income taxes
The Group is subject to income taxes in Antigua and Barbuda. Judgement is required in determining the
provision for income taxes. There are some transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises liabilities for
anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final
tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences
will impact the income tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made. Were the actual
final outcome to differ by +/-10% from management’s estimates, the impact on the current income tax
provision would be estimated $109,741 lower or higher. Additional information is disclosed in note 17.
(e) Impairment of investments
The Group determines that available-for-sale equity investments are impaired when there has been a
significant or prolonged decline in the fair value below its cost. This determination of what is significant
or prolonged requires judgement. In making this judgement, the Group evaluates among other factors, the
normal volatility in share price. In addition, for unquoted available-for-sale equity investments,
impairment may be appropriate when there is evidence of a deterioration in the financial health of the
investee, industry and sector performance, changes in technology, and operational and financing cash
flows. These factors may give rise to an uncertainty regarding the recoverability of the carrying value in
the subsequent period and/or the eventual recoverability of the amounts invested in full.
The subsidiary has estimated the impairment of one of its loans and receivables securities based on
expected future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate of the security. The sensitivity
of management’s estimate is dependent on the expected period of repayments. This expected period is
dependent on the ability of the Company to successfully obtain judgement in its favour against the issuer
and hence be able to recoup its funds through the sale of the underlying collateral or via an agreed
repayment plan. Were the actual final outcome to differ from management’s estimated period by +/- two
years, net income for the year would $439,765 lower or $526,140 higher.
(42)
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Critical accounting estimates and judgements….continued
(e) Impairment of investments … continued
In addition, for two of the Group’s issuers of equity securities financial difficulties were noted. The Group
has recognised an amount for estimated impairment of its unquoted available-for-sale securities at the year
end based on the best available market data. Were the final outcome to differ by +/-10% from
management’s estimates, the impact on net income would be $437,078 lower or higher.

5

Cash and balances with the Central Bank
2010
$

2009
$

Cash on hand
Balances with the ECCB other than mandatory reserve deposits

7,179,107
2,509,418

5,806,286
1,778,470

Included in cash and cash equivalents (note 27)

9,688,525

7,584,756

Mandatory reserve deposits

31,038,658

29,257,266

Total cash and balances with the Central Bank

40,727,183

36,842,022

Commercial banks doing banking business in member states of the Organization of the Eastern Caribbean
States are required to maintain a non-interest bearing reserve with the ECCB equivalent to 6% of their total
deposit liabilities (excluding inter-bank deposits and foreign currencies). This reserve deposit is not available
for use in the Bank’s day-to-day operations.

6

Due from other banks
2010
$

2009
$

Term deposits and operating accounts with banks
Items in the course of collection from other banks

84,047,957
4,986,947

63,337,917
8,244,213

Included in cash and cash equivalents (note 27)

89,034,904

71,582,130

456,357

374,266

89,491,261

71,956,396

Interest receivable

Total due from other banks

(43)
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7

Treasury bills
Nominal
Value
2010
$

Cost
2010
$

Nominal
Value
2009
$

Cost
2009
$

Treasury bills at amortised cost – OECS
Governments with maturity dates from
October 2010 to November 2010 and
interest rates ranging from 6.44% to
7.0%

17,500,000

17,213,904

7,500,000

7,620,154

Included in cash and cash equivalents
(note 27)

17,500,000

17,213,904

7,500,000

7,620,154

–

169,067

–

151,158

17,500,000

17,382,971

7,500,000

7,771,312

Interest receivable
Total treasury bills

Government of Antigua and Barbuda bonds totalling $3,936,604 (2009: $3,936,604) have been hypothecated
to obtain general credit facilities from the ECCB.

8

Statutory deposit

Statutory reserve deposit with the Government of Antigua and
Barbuda

2010
$

2009
$

4,262,944

4,262,944

A subsidiary company has placed a statutory deposit with the Government of Antigua and Barbuda equivalent
to 2½% of its deposit liabilities. The statutory reserve deposit is a statutory requirement as per section 17(a) of
the Financial Institutions (Non-Banking) Act, 1985. This reserve is non-interest bearing and is not available for
the Company’s day-to-day operations.
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9

Loans and advances
2010
$

2009
$

268,418,587
222,935,053
56,749,999
15,655,145
4,949,161
1,561,864
1,294,260

251,334,409
220,683,352
60,844,700
16,983,383
4,929,972
1,765,734
1,376,251

571,564,069

557,917,801

Interest receivable
Deferred loan origination fees
Allowance for loan impairment

14,270,725
(1,593,666)
(18,432,816)

15,157,308
(1,850,123)
(22,363,740)

Total loans and advances

565,808,312

548,861,246

2010
$

2009
$

Business loans
Mortgage loans
Personal loans
Bridging loans
Staff loans
Directors loans
Credit card advances

Allowance for loan impairment

The movement in allowance for loan impairment:
Balance, beginning of year
Provision for loan impairment

22,363,740
(3,930,924)

20,796,954
1,566,786

Balance, end of year

18,432,816

22,363,740

According to the ECCB loan provisioning guidelines, the calculated allowance for loan impairment amounts to
$25,925,164 (2009: $26,015,543) and the difference between this figure and the loan loss provision calculated
under IAS 39 has been set aside as a specific reserve in equity. The carrying value of impaired loans at the year
end was $24,465,606 (2009: $15,165,736). Interest receivable on loans not recognised for regulatory purposes
amounted to $10,716,201 (2009: $13,060,018), and is included in the reserve.

Current
Non-current

2010
$

2009
$

99,530,684

124,290,712

466,277,628

424,570,534

565,808,312

548,861,246

(45)
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10 Other assets

Bills receivable
Suspense accounts
Credit card receivables
Prepayments
Dividends receivable
Miscellaneous receivables
Less:
Provision for impairment of bills receivable

2010
$

2009
$

6,929,223
497,423
1,027,203
752,481
53,745
149,405

6,205,712
1,873,979
970,825
691,925
403,745
335,918

9,409,480

10,482,104

(685,056)

(2,834,710)

Total other assets

8,724,424

7,647,394

Current

8,724,424

7,647,394

2010
$

2009
$

8,846,334
6,963,301

8,843,334
6,707,902

Total available-for-sale unquoted

15,806,635

15,551,236

Available-for-sale quoted
Equity securities (EC$)

18,108,172

19,527,502

Loans and receivables
Government securities
Corporate securities

4,382,769
48,440,266

4,917,284
51,394,529

Total loans and receivables

52,823,035

56,311,813

86,737,842

91,390,551

11 Investment securities

Available-for-sale unquoted
Equity Securities (US$)
Equity Securities (EC$)
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11 Investment securities … continued

Provision for impairment – available-for-sale unquoted
Provision for impairment – loans and receivables
Total provision for impairment

Interest receivable
Total investment securities

2010
$

2009
$

(9,833,334)
(3,652,075)

(4,888,334)
(3,652,075)

(13,485,409)

(8,540,409)

73,252,433

82,850,142

1,201,434

1,597,741

74,453,867

84,447,883

2010
$

2009
$

The movement in investment securities may be summarised as follows:

Available-for-sale
Beginning of year
Additions
Provision for impairment
Unrealised (loss) gain from change in fair value

30,190,404
131,200
(4,970,565)
(1,269,565)

27,986,938
1,993,334
(2,053,334)
2,263,466

End of year

24,081,474

30,190,404

52,659,738
270,000
(3,758,779)
–

57,428,812
–
(3,368,799)
(1,400,275)

49,170,959

52,659,738

All available-for-sale securities are non-current.
Loans and receivables
Beginning of year
Additions
Disposals (sale and redemption)
Provision for impairment

All loans and receivables are non-current.
There are no losses from disposal of investment securities.

(47)

84

Closing net book amount

(135,261)
–
–

–
–

–
23,913,654

(1,544,547)
41,444

–
–

11,705,880

22,744,725
280,306
(670,686)
3,197,673

22,744,725

26,060,652
(3,315,927)

10,853,898
–
–
851,982

10,853,898

Net book amount

Year ended September 30,
2009
Opening net book amount
Additions
Depreciation charge
Revaluation Adjustment
Write back of accumulated
depreciation
Adjustment - Cost
Adjustment – Accumulated
depreciation
Disposals
Accumulated Depreciation disposals

10,853,898
–

Buildings &
building
improveLand
ments
$
$

At September 30, 2008
Cost or valuation
Accumulated depreciation

12 Property, plant and equipment

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

September 30, 2010

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Antigua Commercial Bank Ltd

386,394

–

71,142
–

–
(44,410)

559,172
8,610
(208,120)
–

559,172

4,897,441
(4,338,269)

Motor Computer Computer
vehicles hardware
software Car park
$
$
$
$

Total
$

1,147,110

–

26,576
–

–
8,374

822,500
487,724
(198,064)
–

822,500

267,908

125,000

137,581
(125,000)

–
(135,000)

201,347
164,765
(100,785)
–

201,347

1,403,857

1,285,374

–

28,916
–

–
(1,743)

1,663,683

–

3,521
–

–
27,324

875,076 1,403,857
694,091 1,400,040
(310,966) (1,171,059)
–
–

875,076

37,484,359

18,715

–

(390)
–

–
–

(48)

40,388,718

125,000

132,085
(125,000)

(1,544,547)
(104,011)

23,784 37,484,359
–
3,035,536
(4,679) (2,664,359)
–
4,049,655

23,784

7,113,072
761,117 7,750,359 5,843,724
160,615 63,440,878
(6,290,572) (559,770) (6,875,283) (4,439,867) (136,831) (25,956,519)

Furniture
and
fixtures Equipment
$
$
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Closing net book amount

–
–
–

–
–

–
23,399,390

–
47

–
–

11,705,880

23,913,654
161,989
(676,300)
–

23,913,654

29,580,075
(5,666,421)

11,705,880
–
–
–

11,705,880

Net book amount

Year ended September 30,
2010
Opening net book amount
Additions
Depreciation charge
Revaluation Adjustment
Write back of accumulated
depreciation
Adjustment - Cost
Adjustment - Accumulated
depreciation
Disposals
Accumulated Depreciation disposals

11,705,880
–

At September 30, 2009
Cost or valuation
Accumulated depreciation

Buildings &
building
improveLand
ments
$
$

12 Property, plant and equipment … continued

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

September 30, 2010

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Antigua Commercial Bank Ltd

1,068,353

–

–
–

–
714

386,394
855,542
(174,297)
–

386,394

4,861,641
(4,475,247)

Motor Computer Computer
vehicles hardware
software Car park
$
$
$
$

Total
$

1,049,112

4,675

8,036
(4,675)

–
5,844

1,147,110
109,413
(221,291)
–

1,147,110

206,477

161,957

226
(161,957)

–
(2)

267,908
44,555
(106,210)
–

267,908

1,663,683

2,276,673

–

(75,954)
–

–
(3,723)

1,170,727

–

31,541
–

–
(111,240)

1,285,374 1,663,683
1,463,703
619,173
(392,727) (1,032,430)
–
–

1,285,374

40,388,718

14,036

–

–
–

–
–

(49)

40,890,648

166,632

(36,151)
(166,632)

–
(108,360)

18,715 40,388,718
–
3,254,375
(4,679) (2,607,934)
–
–

18,715

7,609,170
790,882 8,442,707 7,271,088
160,615 70,422,058
(6,462,060) (522,974) (7,157,333) (5,607,405) (141,900) (30,033,340)

Furniture
and
fixtures Equipment
$
$

SOLUTIONS
Antigua commercial bank annual report 2010

11,705,880
–

11,705,880

At September 30, 2010
Cost or valuation
Accumulated depreciation

Net book amount

23,399,390

29,742,111
(6,342,721)

Buildings &
building
improveLand
ments
$
$

12 Property, plant and equipment … continued

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

September 30, 2010

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Antigua Commercial Bank Ltd

1,068,353

5,717,897
(4,649,544)

Motor Computer Computer
vehicles hardware
software Car park
$
$
$
$

Total
$

1,049,112

206,477

2,276,673

1,170,727

14,036

(50)

40,890,648

7,724,427
835,435 9,902,687 7,779,021
160,615 73,568,073
(6,675,315) (628,958) (7,626,014) (6,608,294) (146,579) (32,677,425)

Furniture
and
fixtures Equipment
$
$
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12 Property, plant and equipment … continued
As of September 30, 2009 all of the Bank’s land and buildings and improvements were revalued based on the
appraisal made by an independent firm of appraisers. Valuations were made on the basis of comparative recent
market transactions on arm’s length terms. The revaluation surplus net of applicable deferred income taxes was
credited to ‘other reserves’ in shareholder’s equity (note 23).
The following is the historical cost carrying amount of land and buildings carried at revalued amounts as of
September 30, 2010.
Land
$

Buildings
$

Total
$

Cost
Accumulated depreciation

2,302,078
–

19,176,461
(6,674,683)

21,478,539
(6,674,683)

Net book values

2,302,078

12,501,778

14,803,856

13 Pension asset
The Group operates a defined benefit pension scheme for all its eligible employees which commenced October
1, 1991. The assets of the plan are held in a seven member trustee administered fund, established by the Group
with four of the trustees appointed by the Board of Directors, and three appointed by the employees. The funds
of the scheme are invested under the control of the trustees and may be used only for the purposes of the
scheme.
The Group contributes to a defined benefit pension scheme (the ‘Plan’) covering substantially all full-time
employees. The assets of the Plan are held separately in independent trust administered funds. The Plan is
valued every three years by an independent qualified actuary. The latest available valuation was at September
30, 2009 using the projected unit credit method. At September 30, 2009, the actuarial valuation showed that the
Plan was adequately funded with assets exceeding the projected plan benefits, and indicated a required
contribution rate by the Group, for the next three years, of less than 5% of pensionable salaries.
The amounts recognised in the balance sheet are as follows:
Present value of funded obligations
Fair value of plan assets

Unrecognised actuarial gains
Net asset recognised in balance sheet

2010
$

2009
$

(9,559,395)
18,293,540

(9,547,067)
16,984,309

8,734,145

7,437,242

(2,309,016)

(1,481,687)

6,425,129

5,955,555

(51)
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13 Pension asset … continued
The movements in the defined benefit obligation are as follows:
2010
$

2009
$

Beginning of year
Interest cost
Current service cost
Benefits paid
Actuarial (gain) loss on obligations

9,547,067
684,401
523,805
(587,431)
(608,447)

8,237,133
600,486
436,286
(190,083)
463,245

End of year

9,559,395

9,547,067

The movements in the fair value of plan assets are as follows based on actuarial reports:
2010
$

2009
$

Beginning of year
Expected return on plan assets
Contributions
Benefits paid
Actuarial gain (loss) on plan assets

16,984,309
1,021,135
656,645
(587,431)
218,882

16,111,293
980,383
646,940
(190,083)
(564,224)

End of year

18,293,540

16,984,309

The major categories of plan assets as a percentage of total plan assets are as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents
Debt securities
Equity securities
Property

2010
$

2009
$

20%
29%
32%
19%

7%
36%
35%
22%

The pension plan assets include ordinary shares issued by Antigua Commercial Bank Ltd. with a value of
$25,200 (2009: $25,200). Plan assets include deposits held with the Bank with a fair value of $701,699 (2009:
$371,043). The actual return on plan assets was $918,102 (2009: $416,159).
Amounts for the current period and previous three periods are as follows:
2010
$

2009
$

2008
$

(9,559,395)
18,293,540

(9,547,067)
16,984,309

(8,237,133)
16,111,293

Surplus

8,734,145

7,437,242

7,874,160

Unrecognised gains (losses) at
end of year

2,309,016

1,481,688

2,576,677

Defined benefit obligation
Plan assets

(52)
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13 Pension asset … continued
The amounts recognised in the income statement are as follows
2010
$
Current service cost
Interest on defined benefit obligation
Expected return on plan assets
Net actuarial (gains) loss recognised in the year
Net income recognised

2009
$

195,483
684,401
(1,021,135)
–

112,816
600,486
(980,383)
(67,521)

(141,251)

(334,602)

Assumptions used in determining the present value of the obligation were as follows:

Discount rate at end of year
Expected return on plan assets at end of year
Future promotional salary increases
Future pension increases
Future changes in Social Security ceiling

2010
%
7.0
6.0
1.8 – 8.7
0.0
0.0

2009
%
7.0
6.0
1.8 – 8.7
0.0
0.0

Contributions to the pension scheme for the year ended September 30, 2010 amounted to $328,715, being
Antigua Commercial Bank: $292,951; ACB Mortgage & Trust: $35,764 (2009: 273,526 – Antigua Commercial
Bank, $234,158: ACB Mortgage & Trust, $39,368). The Group’s contributions are adjusted according to the
actuary’s recommendations. Contributions paid to the plan for the subsequent period amounted to $336,775.

14 Deposits due to customers
2010
$

2009
$

304,927,930
197,434,031
87,085,102
57,688,480

302,813,427
157,340,990
103,166,346
60,608,908

647,135,543

623,929,671

4,247,203

3,276,580

Total deposits due to customers

651,382,746

627,206,251

Current

539,524,381

511,033,923

Non-current

111,858,365

116,172,328

651,382,746

627,206,251

Savings accounts
Time deposits
Current accounts
Other Deposits

Interest payable

(53)
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15 Other liabilities and accrued expenses
2010
$

2009
$

Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Manager’s cheques
Escrow accounts
Other sundry payables
Bills payable
Statutory deductions payable

3,843,780
1,901,911
1,420,703
293,656
143,074
163,945

4,754,439
2,052,637
1,485,276
518,225
331,640
122,360

Total other liabilities and accrued expenses

7,767,069

9,264,577

Current

6,346,366

7,779,301

Non-current

1,420,703

1,485,276

7,767,069

9,264,577

16 Dividends
The dividend proposed in respect of the 2010 financial year end is 30% of paid up capital or EC$1,500,000
(2009: 30% or EC$1,500,000).
The financial statements for the year ended September 30, 2010 do not reflect this proposed dividend which, if
ratified, will be accounted for in equity as an appropriation of retained earnings in the year ended September
30, 2011. An interim dividend of 10% in respect of the 2010 financial year was declared and paid on May 18,
2011.

(54)
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17 Taxation
2010
$

2009
$

5,645,919
3,478,706
(2,381,292)

2,965,863
2,605,553
74,503

6,743,333

5,645,919

Income tax expense
Operating income for the year

16,239,439

20,078,080

Income tax expense at statutory rate
Provision for impairment on equity investments - disallowed
Other non-deductible expenses
Effect of other permanent differences
Dividend income not subject to tax
Untaxed interest income
Prior years’ tax (over) under accrual
Adjustment to accumulated tax losses

3,857,925
1,131,625
84,894
6,013
(324,068)
(562,932)
(2,381,292)
–

4,836,589
–
784,784
4,042
(1,021,455)
(614,986)
74,503
(2,748)

1,812,165

4,060,729

Income tax payable
Income tax recoverable, beginning of year
Current tax expense
Prior year (over) under accrual
Income tax payable, end of year

Actual income tax expense

The effective tax rate for Antigua Commercial Bank is 25% (2009: 26.25%) and for ACB Mortgage and Trust
is 20% (2009: 20%).
2010
2009
$
$
Deferred tax liability
Balance, beginning of year
Charge for the year
Movement on revaluation of available for sale securities
Movement on revaluation of buildings

7,835,111
714,751
(312,465)
(13,274)

5,497,235
1,380,674
543,920
413,282

Balance, end of year

8,224,123

7,835,111

(55)
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17

Taxation … continued
The components of the deferred tax liability are as follows:
2010
$
Decelerated capital allowances
Revaluation of property
Pension asset
Deferred tax on revaluation of available-for-sale securities
Deferred commission
Statutory loan loss reserve
Balance, end of year

2009
$

(1,385,003)
517,684
1,606,282
3,302,741
(354,301)
4,536,720

(1,476,806)
530,957
1,488,889
3,615,205
(416,272)
4,093,138

8,224,123

7,835,111

The income tax payable does not represent amounts agreed with the Tax Authority. The amount is reflective of
the Group’s position concerning its tax balance with the Inland Revenue Department on the basis of its records.
However, as tax returns for years of assessment 1999 to the present have not been finalised with the IRD, there
is uncertainty as to the eventual outcome.

18 Related party transactions
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise significant
influence over the other party in making financial or operational decisions.
A number of banking transactions were entered into with related parties in the normal course of business. These
include loans, deposits and other transactions. These transactions were carried out on commercial terms and at
market rates. The volumes of related party transactions, outstanding balances at the year end and related
expenses and income for the year are as follows:
2010
$

2009
$

Loans to Directors and key members of management
Loans outstanding at beginning of year
Loans issued during the year
Loans repayments during the year

1,717,405
121,000
(833,350)

1,418,453
1,690,630
(1,391,678)

Loans outstanding at end of year

1,005,055

1,717,405

No provisions have been recognised in respect of loans given to related parties (2009: nil).
Interest income earned on directors’ and key members of management’s loans and advances during the year is
$97,398 (2009: $50,906). The average interest rate on these loans is 11% (2009: 11%) and they are granted on
an arms length basis.
2010
2009
$
$
Deposits by Directors and key members of management
Deposits at beginning of year
2,636,646
2,445,868
Deposits received during the year
5,276,799
3,020,900
Deposits repaid during the year
(3,745,085)
(2,830,122)
Deposits at end of year

4,168,360

2,636,646
(56)
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18 Related party transactions … continued
Interest expense paid on directors’ and key members of management’s deposits during the year is $131,005
(2009: $30,825). The average interest rate on these deposits is 3% to 5.50% (2009: 3% to 5.5%) and they are
accepted on an arms length basis.
Remuneration of key members of management
During the year, salaries and related benefits were paid to key members of management allocated as follows:
2010
$

2009
$

760,872
248,960
23,171

720,921
233,703
20,219

1,033,003

974,843

2010
$

2009
$

Antigua Pier Group Series A bonds

1,568,670

1,779,263

Total due under repurchase agreements

1,568,670

1,779,263

Salaries and wages
Other staff costs
Pension costs

19 Due under repurchase agreements

The repurchase agreements indicate that the Group agrees to transfer APG Bonds to the buyer and
simultaneously agrees with the buyer to repurchase said securities at a determined date. In all of the above
cases the repurchase price was equivalent to the face value.

20 Long-term debenture liabilities
2010
$

2009
$

33,205,000

29,110,000

29,110,000
(14,110,000)
18,205,000

22,535,000
(8,425,000)
15,000,000

33,205,000

29,110,000

Debenture stocks
Authorised: debenture stock
Issued and fully paid:
Debenture stock at beginning of year
Debenture stock redeemed
Debenture stock issued
Debenture stock at end of year

(57)
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20 Long-term debenture liabilities … continued
2010
$

2009
$

–
–
–

4,275,000
450,000
205,000

–

4,930,000

–
–

8,805,000
375,000

–

9,180,000

Debenture stock 11th issue at 6% p.a. maturing on September 30,
2013

5,000,000

5,000,000

Debenture stock 12th issue at 6% p.a. maturing on March 1, 2014
Debenture stock 12th issue at 6% p.a. maturing on March 2, 2014
Debenture stock 12th issue at 6% p.a. maturing on March 6, 2014

7,800,000
1,950,000
250,000

7,800,000
1,950,000
250,000

10,000,000

10,000,000

8,980,000
9,225,000

–
–

33,205,000

29,110,000

Authorised share capital
3,762,500 shares at nil par value

2010
$

2009
$

5,000,000

5,000,000

Issued and fully paid:
12,500 shares of no par value (originally issued at $100 per share)
3,750,000 shares of no par value (originally issued at $1 per share)

1,250,000
3,750,000

1,250,000
3,750,000

5,000,000

5,000,000

Debenture stock 9th issue at 6% p.a. maturing on September 30, 2009
Debenture stock 9th issue at 6% p.a. maturing on October 1, 2009
Debenture stock 9th issue at 6% p.a. maturing on October 20, 2009

Debenture stock 10th issue at 5.5% p.a. maturing on March 31, 2010
Debenture stock 10th issue at 5.5% p.a. maturing on April 1, 2010

Debenture stock 13th issue at 6% p.a. maturing on September 30,
2014
Debenture stock 14th issue at 6% p.a. maturing on March 31, 2015
Total long-term liabilities

21 Share capital

(58)
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22 Statutory reserve
2010
$

2009
$

Balance at beginning of year
Increase in reserves for statutory purposes during the year

10,000,000
–

10,000,000
–

Balance at end of year

10,000,000

10,000,000

Section 14 (1) of the Antigua and Barbuda Banking Act of 2005 provides that not less than 20% of each year’s
net earnings shall be set aside to a reserve fund whenever the fund is less than the paid-up capital of the Bank.
This section also applies to the subsidiary company.

23 Other reserves
2010
$

2009
$

General reserve
Regulatory reserve for loan impairment
Revaluation reserve - property
Capital reserve
Revaluation reserve – available for sale securities
Pension reserve

26,723,105
18,208,550
9,696,853
7,461,949
10,180,474
6,425,129

26,723,105
16,560,738
9,736,675
7,461,949
11,137,574
5,955,555

Total other reserves

78,696,060

77,575,596

2010
$

2009
$

Regulatory reserve for loan impairment
Balance at the beginning of the year
Increase (decrease) in reserves for regulatory purposes

16,560,739
1,647,811

10,314,516
6,246,222

Balance at the end of year

18,208,550

16,560,738

Revaluation reserve for available-for-sale securities
Balance at the beginning of the year
(Loss) gains from changes in fair value
Deferred income taxes
Effect of change of tax rate

11,137,573
(1,269,565)
312,465
–

Balance at end of the year

10,180,473

9,418,030
2,263,464
(543,920)
–
11,137,574

Revaluation reserve - property
Balance at the beginning of the year
Reversal of revaluation released through depreciation
Deferred income taxes

9,736,675
(53,096)
13,274

7,644,848
2,505,109
(413,282)

Balance at end of year

9,696,853

9,736,675

An independent valuation of land and buildings was conducted in 2009 (note 12).
(59)
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23 Other reserves … continued

Pension reserve
Balance at beginning of year
Increase in pension reserve

2010
$

2009
$

5,955,555
469,574

5,297,483
658,072

Balance at end of year

6,425,129

5,955,555

General reserve
At the discretion of the Board of Directors, amounts are periodically appropriated from net income to general
reserve for general purposes and for possible future loan losses.
Capital reserve
Included in this balance is an amount of $6,171,428 recorded in the prior years for share premium recognised.
Pension reserve
The Board of Directors has decided to appropriate annually out of net income the amounts necessary to
maintain a pension reserve equivalent to the pension asset.
Revaluation reserve – property
This represents the increase in property, plant and equipment’s carrying amount as a result of revaluation.
Revaluation reserve – available for sale securities
Certain available-for-sale securities are stated at market value with the unrealised gains (losses) reflected in
equity until realised.
Loan loss reserve
The reserve represents the additional provision required by the Eastern Caribbean Central Bank prudential
guidelines as compared to the provision measured in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards, including the interest on loans not recognised for regulatory purposes.

24 Other operating income
2010
$

2009
$

Foreign exchange
Fees and commissions
Dividend income
Recovery of loans written off
Rental income
Miscellaneous income

2,946,456
2,909,826
1,319,553
675,897
195,476
332,379

3,133,551
3,041,314
4,321,299
704,087
218,401
359,343

Total other operating income

8,379,587

11,777,995

(60)
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25 General and administrative expenses
2010
$

2009
$

Salaries and related costs (note 28)
Non-credit losses
Utilities
Insurance expense
Restructuring costs
Software operating expenses
Repairs and maintenance
ECCB expenses
Printing and stationery expenses
Telephone, postage, telegram expenses
Miscellaneous expenses
Security services
Advertising and promotion
STP final settlement cost
Audit fees and expenses
Legal and professional fees
Cleaning
Night depository
Agency expenses
Licenses and taxes
Rent
Shareholders’ meeting expenses
Subscriptions and fees
Vehicle expenses
Scholarship fund
Travel and entertainment
Wire services expense

10,883,764
1,838,378
985,275
820,382
766,030
558,895
524,417
522,141
498,936
431,415
422,453
418,099
414,218
377,292
370,088
368,704
356,190
311,807
285,092
272,262
257,243
172,026
110,809
79,888
62,603
55,883
42,719

10,103,311
1,499,870
1,025,258
808,645
–
261,227
536,748
741,301
556,850
344,987
177,809
364,748
501,523
–
365,256
578,892
355,996
311,389
301,618
416,306
152,685
63,875
60,120
79,090
41,740
108,069
111,128

Total general and administrative expenses

22,207,009

19,868,441

26 Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to shareholders by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.
2010
$
Net profit attributable to shareholders
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
Basic and diluted earnings per share

2009
$

14,427,274
3,762,500

16,017,351
3,762,500

3.83

4.26

(61)
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27 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and balances with the Central Bank (note 5)
Due from other banks (note 6)
Treasury bills (note 7)
Total cash and cash equivalents

2010
$

2009
$

9,688,525
89,034,904
17,213,904

7,584,756
71,582,130
7,620,154

115,937,333

86,787,040

2010
$

2009
$

28 Salaries and related costs

Salaries, wages and allowances
Other staff costs
Statutory deductions
Pension (income) costs
Total salaries and related costs

9,591,063
872,734
561,219
(141,252)
10,883,764

8,844,243
1,041,524
552,146
(334,602)
10,103,311

29 Commitments and contingencies
Pending litigation
Various actions and legal proceedings may arise against the Bank during the normal course of business. The
Bank is currently involved in two employee-related legal matters; for which the outcome of the first matter has
been determined with damages to be decided by the Court, and the outcome of the second matter can not be
presently determined. The amount of the liability, if any, will be contingent on the eventual outcome of court
proceedings and will be recognised at that time.
Credit related commitments
The contractual amounts of the Group’s off-balance sheet financial instruments that commit it to extend credit
to customers are listed below:

Undrawn commitments to extend advances

2010
$

2009
$

27,075,265

35,470,435

(62)
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29 Commitments and contingencies … continued
Off balance sheet items
The Group had letters of credit outstanding at the year end in the following amounts:

Letters of Credit

As at September 30, 2010
Loan commitments (undrawn)
Letters of credit
As at September 30, 2009
Loan commitments (undrawn)
Letters of credit

2010
$

2009
$

7,501,457

6,070,795

Up to 1 year
$

Total
$

27,075,265

27,075,265

7,501,457

7,501,457

35,470,435

35,470,435

6,070,795

6,070,795

30 Comparatives
Loan write off recoveries amounting to $761,791 previously classified under general and administrative
expenses was reclassified to other operating income to conform with changes in presentation in the current
period.
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